



## **Chronic Conditions of Californians** 2007 California Health Interview Survey

March 2010

# **Chronic Conditions of Californians**

2007 California Health Interview Survey

*Prepared for* CALIFORNIA HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION

by

Camillia Lui, M.P.H., M.A. Steven P. Wallace, Ph.D. UCLA CENTER FOR HEALTH POLICY RESEARCH

## **About the Authors**

Camillia Lui, M.P.H., M.A., is a graduate student researcher at the **UCLA Center for Health Policy Research** and a doctoral student at the UCLA School of Public Health. Steven P. Wallace, Ph.D., is Associate Director of the UCLA Center for Health Policy Research and Professor at the UCLA School of Public Health.

## **Acknowledgments**

Thanks to Hongjian Yu, Yi-Feng Jenny Chia, Pei-Yi Peggy Kan, and Brandon Traudt at the UCLA Center for Health Policy Research for their statistical and mapping support; Ying Ying Meng, Dylan Roby, and Sarah Peter also at the UCLA Center for Health Policy Research for their project support; and Jeanne Miranda at the UCLA Semel Institute. The final report and data tables benefited from the feedback of the following reviewers: Delight E. Satter (UCLA Center for Health Policy Research), Kerry L. Shaffer (Kern County Department of Public Health), and Maryam Headd (San Mateo County Health System). The authors also express their appreciation to Betty Henderson-Sparks at OSHPD.

## **About the Foundation**

The **California HealthCare Foundation** is an independent philanthropy committed to improving the way health care is delivered and financed in California. By promoting innovations in care and broader access to information, our goal is to ensure that all Californians can get the care they need, when they need it, at a price they can afford. For more information, visit www.chcf.org.

## **Contents**

	Executive Summary
	Overview
	Methodology
	Summary of Findings
I.	Chronic Condition Indices and Health Care Access Indicato
	Adult Chronic Condition Indices
	Children Chronic Condition Indices
II.	Adult Chronic Conditions Prevalence and Characteristics
	Active Asthma
	Congestive Heart Failure
	Diabetes
	Hypertension
	Psychological Distress
III.	Child Chronic Conditions Prevalence and Characteristics
	Active Asthma
	Health Status
IV.	Conclusion
	Appendix
	Endnotes

# **Executive Summary**

## **Overview**

Chronic health conditions are the leading cause of death and disability in the United States, and the largest component of health care costs. Chronic health conditions are defined as "non-communicable illnesses that are prolonged in duration, do not resolve spontaneously, and are rarely cured completely."<sup>1</sup> Nearly one in two American adults live with at least one chronic health condition such as heart disease, cancer, stroke, or diabetes.<sup>2</sup> The impact of chronic health conditions also extends to children. The percentage of children and adolescents with a chronic illness in the United States has jumped from 1.8 percent in the 1960s to more than 7 percent in 2004.<sup>3</sup> Health care for people with chronic health conditions make up more than 70 percent of the nation's total annual health care costs.<sup>4</sup>

Some chronic health conditions are deemed ambulatory care sensitive conditions (ACSCs) because the nature of the illness is controllable with effective and timely outpatient care and disease management.<sup>5</sup> Mental health issues, such as depression and psychological distress, also result in higher use of medical care and are considered an ACSC.<sup>6</sup> The failure to effectively manage these chronic conditions due to poor quality, uncoordinated care and/ or insufficient access to care can result in heavier use of emergency room (ER) services and hospital services, poorer overall health, and greater mortality. By understanding the burden of these chronic health conditions, health care programs can target their efforts to improve chronic disease management and treatment.

With funding from the California Health Care Foundation (CHCF), the UCLA Center for Health Policy Research (CHPR) is pleased to present the third edition of the *Chronic Conditions of Californians* report. As one of the most populated and diverse states in the United States, California is a unique place in which to examine the impact of chronic health conditions. The first edition used 2003 data from the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) while the second edition used CHIS 2005 data to provide a report on the current state of chronic health conditions among California adults and children. The third edition of *Chronic Conditions of Californians* expands on the earlier versions by using CHIS 2007 data. This report follows the same format and health measures as the second edition using CHIS 2005 data, which makes the data comparable between second and third editions. However, the third edition does not include hospital data. Data from this edition are available at CHCF's Web site through an interactive on-line interface that improves access to data and maps concurrently (data.chcf.org).

This report is divided into four chapters. Chapter I presents composite measures of chronic conditions among adults and children in data tables and maps. These composite measures can be used to determine specific areas with the heaviest burden of chronic conditions. The data tables and maps also highlight composite measures of frequent health care use and barriers to health care use among adults and children with chronic conditions. Chapter II provides demographic data and data for each chronic condition including active asthma, congestive heart failure (CHF), diabetes, hypertension, and psychological distress among California adults. Chapter III highlights California children and adolescents by including data on demographics and data on active asthma and health status. A brief conclusion is offered in Chapter IV. For more information about the data sources, description of demographic and health indicators, and methodology, please refer to the Appendix.

The overall goal of this report is to provide evidence for public health workers, health care providers, policymakers, and all others interested in addressing the burden of chronic conditions of Californians. By making data available and user-friendly for health care providers and policymakers, such research can help to ensure the availability of accessible and quality health care to those most affected by the burden of chronic conditions, and aid the development of targeted policy efforts to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with chronic health conditions and improve the overall health and well-being of Californians.

## Methodology

To examine the current state of chronic health conditions among Californians, 2007 data from the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS) were used.<sup>7</sup> In CHIS 2007, there were over 51,000 completed interviews with adults and over 13,000 with adolescents and children. The methods and health measures remain the same as the 2005 data with the exception that there are no corresponding hospital data.

The 2007 CHIS data were used to estimate the total number or prevalence of adults and children with a chronic condition. These data were presented by California counties/county clusters, Los Angeles Service Planning Areas (SPAs), and San Diego Health regions. Following the U.S. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ)'s published guidelines, specific chronic ACSCs were identified that result in potentially preventable hospitalizations.<sup>8</sup> Specifically, the number of adults with active asthma, CHF, diabetes, hypertension, and psychological distress were examined, as were the number of children and adolescents with active asthma and fair-topoor health status.

This report follows the same method as the first and second editions of Chronic Conditions of Californians by constructing three composite measures of chronic conditions using CHIS data. These measures were based on the total percentage of those who reported having at least one of the following chronic health conditions: active asthma, CHF, diabetes, hypertension, psychological distress, or fair-to-poor health status. This measure was used to further construct additional composite measures to compare health care utilization and barriers to health care among adults or children with at least one chronic health condition. Counties were ranked by this composite measure into 5 groups (or quintiles). Group 1 reflects areas with the lowest percent of adults or children with chronic conditions (best health group). Group 5 reflects areas with the highest percent of adults or children with chronic conditions (worst health group). These composite measures and rankings can be compared with the second Chronic Conditions report since it uses the same health measures, but these data cannot be compared with the first edition. Within each county, select demographic characteristics were described (e.g., age, low-income, race/ethnicity) as were health care coverage and utilization (e.g., uninsured, covered by Medi-Cal, ER visits, and doctor visits) among adults and children with chronic conditions. Data

were reported either at the county-level or subcounty level. However, for counties with small populations, neighboring counties were combined to create county clusters to ensure stable estimates. For race/ethnicity, data were reported at the regional level.

For a more detailed description of data sources, definitions of chronic health conditions, indicators, geographic areas, and data analysis, please refer to the Appendix.

## **Summary of Findings**

## **Chronic Condition Indices**

- In 2007, one-third of California adults (36.0 percent) reported having at least one chronic health condition (including active asthma, CHF, diabetes, hypertension, or psychological distress). The proportion varied from 28.0 percent in Marin County to 49.2 percent in the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster (Table 1).
- Among California children, 16.0 percent reported having at least one chronic health condition in 2007 (including active asthma or fair-to-poor health status). The proportion varied from 8.3 percent in the San Diego North Inland region to 22.7 percent in the Imperial County who reported having at least one chronic condition (Table 1).

After ranking counties according to their prevalence of chronic conditions, San Luis Obispo and Marin counties both ranked in the best two health groups for all seven chronic conditions. In contrast, Lake County fared worst, ranking in the bottom health group for all seven chronic conditions (Table 2).

## Adult Active Asthma

The statewide prevalence of active asthma was 8.1 percent among adults, yet the range varied from 4.9 percent in the San Diego North Coastal region to 19.1 percent in the Tehama/Glenn/ Colusa County cluster (Table 4.1).

## Adult Congestive Heart Failure

The statewide prevalence of CHF was 1.8 percent among adults. The variation between county areas was 0.5 percent in Marin County to 4.3 percent in the Tuolumne/Calaveras/Amador/Inyo/Mariposa/ Mono/Alpine County cluster (Table 5.1).

## **Adult Diabetes**

The statewide prevalence of diabetes was approximately 7.8 percent among adults. The variation between county areas was 3.8 percent in San Diego North Central region to 11.3 percent in Tulare County (Table 6.1).

## Adult Hypertension

The statewide prevalence of hypertension was approximately 26.1 percent among adults, which is the highest of all chronic conditions. The prevalence varied from 19.9 percent in Marin County to 37.3 percent in Lake County (Table 7.1).

## Adult Psychological Distress

The statewide prevalence of psychological distress was approximately 3.8 percent among adults. The range varied from Sonoma County at 1.0 percent to the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster at 8.7 percent (Table 8.1).

## Child Active Asthma (ages 1 to 17)

The statewide prevalence of active asthma was 10.4 percent among children. The range varied from 4.7 percent in the San Diego North Inland region to 15.9 percent in the Del Norte/Siskiyou/ Lassen/Trinity/Modoc/Plumas/Sierra County cluster (Table 10.1).

## Child Health Status (ages 0 to 17)

The statewide prevalence of fair-to-poor health status was 6.8 percent among children. The range varied from 1.8 percent in Marin County to 15.1 percent in Monterey County (Table 11.1).

# I. Chronic Condition Indices and Health Care Access Indicators

THIS CHAPTER PROVIDES AN OVERVIEW OF THE PREVALENCE OF chronic conditions among adults and children in California. By ranking the prevalence by counties (or by county cluster or sub-groups) in Tables 1 and 2, areas with a high or low proportion of people with chronic conditions can be identified. Group 1 reflects areas with the lowest percentage of adults with chronic conditions (best health group). Group 5 reflects areas with the highest percentage of adults with chronic conditions (worst health group).

#### Table 1. Composite of Chronic Condition Indices and Access Indicators, Adults and Children, 2007

			ADUL	TS (AGE	18 AND OLD	ER)				CHILDREN (AGES 1-17)           WITH ONE OR MORE CHROUEDTER WITH BARRI HEALTH CARE USE?           WITH ONE OR MORE CHROUEDTER WITH FRECUENT           WITH ONE OR MORE CHROUENT         WITH BARRI HEALTH CARE USE?           NUMBER         PERCENT         GROUP*         GROUP*<						
	TOTAL		WITH ON	E OR MO	ORE CHRO WITH FRI HEALTH C	NIC CON EQUENT ARE USE <sup>†</sup>	NDITION WITH BAR HEALTH C	RIERS TO ARE USE‡	TOTAL	,	WITH ON	E OR MC	ORE CHRO WITH FRE HEALTH CA	NIC CON QUENT ARE USE <sup>†</sup>	NDITION WITH BAR HEALTH C	RIERS TO ARE USE <sup>‡</sup>
	ADULTS	NUMBER	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	CHILDREN	NUMBER	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*
California	26,874,000	9,677,000	36.0%	-	57.7%	-	25.0%	-	9,392,000	1,500,000	16.0%	-	60.7%	-	22.7%	-
Alameda	1,134,000	428,000	37.8%	3	54.1%	1	21.7%	2	342,000	63,000	18.5%	4	58.0%	2	13.3%§	1
Butte	164,000	63,000	38.6%	4	62.3%	4	18.9%	1	45,000	3,000	7.2% <sup>§</sup>	1	69.3%	4	16.6%§	2
Contra Costa	775,000	286,000	36.9%	3	51.6%	1	16.4%	1	242,000	46,000	19.0%	4	49.9%	1	39.3%	5
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	45,000	40.2%	5	63.4%	5	22.6%	2	30,000	5,000	15.9%§	3	66.4% <sup>§</sup>	4	-	-
El Dorado	137,000	57,000	41.7%	5	57.3%	3	25.8%	4	38,000	4,000	10.2%	1	54.1%	2	13.2% <sup>§</sup>	1
Fresno	628,000	243,000	38.6%	4	59.5%	4	24.2%	3	250,000	55,000	21.8%	5	68.7%	4	30.6%§	5
Humboldt	100,000	32,000	32.3%	1	66.1%	5	16.9%	1	26,000	3,000	12.9%	2	64.1%	3	-	-
Imperial	119,000	48,000	40.3%	5	63.7%	5	25.9%	4	44,000	10,000	22.7%	5	78.2%	5	15.0% <sup>§</sup>	2
Kern	533,000	194,000	36.4%	3	59.0%	3	32.5%	5	230,000	43,000	18.9%	4	77.2%	5	14.9% <sup>§</sup>	2
Kings	92,000	31,000	33.8%	2	67.3%	5	33.2%	5	41,000	9,000	21.4%	5	70.1%	4	25.5% <sup>§</sup>	4
Lake	50,000	24,000	46.9%	5	65.0%	5	29.0%	5	12,000	2,000	18.4%	4	76.5%	5	_	-
Los Angeles	7,328,000	2,551,000	34.8%	2	59.4%	3	27.8%	4	2,664,000	465,000	17.5%	4	58.0%	2	24.6%	3
SPA 1-Antelope Valley	230,000	89,000	38.6%	4	67.3%	5	23.0%	3	90,000	14,000	15.5%	3	76.4%	5	15.4% <sup>§</sup>	2
SPA 2–San Fernando	1,522,000	537,000	35.3%	2	58.9%	3	25.1%	4	550,000	77,000	14.0%	2	67.4%	4	21.8%	3

			ADUL	TS (AGE 1	8 AND OLD	ER)		CHILDREN (AGES 1–17)								
		,	WITH ON	E OR MC			IDITION WITH BAB	RIFRS TO			WITH ON	E OR MC	RE CHRO		IDITION WITH BAB	RIFRS TO
	TOTAL				HEALTH C	ARE USE <sup>†</sup>	HEALTH C	ARE USE <sup>‡</sup>	TOTAL				HEALTH CA	ARE USE <sup>†</sup>	HEALTH C	ARE USE <sup>‡</sup>
	ADULTS	NUMBER	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	CHILDREN	NUMBER	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*
SPA 3-San Gabriel Valley	1,386,000	466,000	33.6%	2	56.4%	2	28.8%	5	433,000	87,000	20.1%	5	53.1%	2	30.0%	4
SPA 4-Metro	880,000	269,000	30.6%	1	62.5%	4	42.4%	5	317,000	53,000	16.8%	3	59.0%	3	19.7% <sup>§</sup>	3
SPA 5-West Area	520,000	178,000	34.3%	2	53.4%	1	19.2%	2	125,000	20,000	16.0%	3	30.1%§	1	12.6%§	1
SPA 6-South	668,000	257,000	38.5%	4	62.8%	4	41.4%	5	329,000	66,000	20.1%	5	52.5%	2	28.5% <sup>§</sup>	4
SPA 7–East Area	948,000	343,000	36.2%	3	56.3%	2	20.3%	2	408,000	70,000	17.2%	4	66.3%	3	23.1% <sup>§</sup>	3
SPA 8–South Bay	1,176,000	412,000	35.1%	2	62.6%	4	23.5%	3	412,000	78,000	18.8%	4	54.5%	2	27.4% <sup>§</sup>	4
Madera	98,000	38,000	38.5%	4	59.1%	3	27.4%	4	38,000	6,000	14.4%	2	64.9%	3	32.3%§	5
Marin	189,000	53,000	28.0%	1	51.3%	1	10.5%	1	51,000	4,000	7.7% <sup>§</sup>	1	81.7%	5	-	-
Mendocino	68,000	32,000	47.0%	5	50.7%	1	24.8%	3	20,000	3,000	17.0%	3	43.0%§	1	23.9% <sup>§</sup>	3
Merced	171,000	64,000	37.3%	3	63.4%	5	37.7%	5	76,000	15,000	19.2%	5	68.7%	4	17.5% <sup>§</sup>	2
Monterey	291,000	95,000	32.6%	1	56.3%	2	28.5%	4	117,000	26,000	22.5%	5	76.6%	5	25.6% <sup>§</sup>	4
Napa	96,000	38,000	39.1%	4	60.9%	4	17.1%	1	32,000	7,000	20.5%	5	39.3% <sup>§</sup>	1	21.6%§	3
Nevada	80,000	28,000	35.4%	2	57.9%	3	16.5%	1	18,000	3,000	13.9%§	2	73.7%	5	_	-
Orange	2,256,000	719,000	31.9%	1	60.1%	4	26.4%	4	757,000	116,000	15.3%	3	70.0%	4	17.6% <sup>§</sup>	2
Placer	238,000	71,000	29.9%	1	49.9%	1	16.4%	1	81,000	14,000	17.4%	4	55.7%	2	30.3% <sup>§</sup>	5
Riverside	1,403,000	507,000	36.1%	3	57.9%	3	23.8%	3	547,000	59,000	10.7%	1	60.6%	3	30.6% <sup>§</sup>	5
Sacramento	1,003,000	423,000	42.1%	5	56.0%	2	21.2%	2	350,000	41,000	11.8%	1	58.7%	3	18.0% <sup>§</sup>	3
San Benito	41,000	14,000	33.7%	2	56.7%	2	27.3% <sup>§</sup>	4	16,000	2,000	14.1%	2	63.5%	3	38.3%§	5
San Bernardino	1,382,000	538,000	39.0%	4	55.6%	2	29.0%	5	571,000	87,000	15.2%	3	69.1%	4	30.1%	4
San Diego	2,198,000	785,000	35.7%	3	55.6%	2	23.9%	3	759,000	97,000	12.8%	2	62.3%	3	14.7%	1
1–North Coastal	367,000	116,000	31.6%	1	56.9%	3	24.8%	3	123,000	19,000	15.1%	3	54.0%	2	27.9% <sup>§</sup>	4
2–North Central	442,000	149,000	33.7%	2	51.7%	1	18.1%	1	117,000	11,000	9.8%	1	80.7%	5	_	_
3–Central	370,000	148,000	39.9%	4	59.9%	4	37.2%	5	125,000	19,000	15.0%	2	49.3%	1	23.6% <sup>§</sup>	3
4–South	286,000	108,000	37.8%	3	54.4%	2	22.0%	2	114,000	14,000	11.9%	1	59.8%	3	_	-
5–East	356,000	137,000	38.5%	4	58.5%	3	18.5%	1	120,000	22,000	18.0%	4	73.1%	4	14.2% <sup>§</sup>	1
6–North Inland	378,000	128,000	33.7%	2	51.8%	1	21.6%	2	159,000	13,000	8.3%	1	61.2%	3	10.4% <sup>§</sup>	1

			ADUL	TS (AGE	18 AND OLDI	ER)					СНІІ	DREN	(AGES 1–17)			
	τοται		WITH ON	E OR MC	ORE CHRO WITH FRE HEALTH C/	NIC CON EQUENT ARE USE <sup>†</sup>	NDITION WITH BAR HEALTH C	RIERS TO ARE USE <sup>‡</sup>	τοται		WITH ON	E OR MC	RE CHRC WITH FRE HEALTH C	NIC CON EQUENT ARE USE <sup>†</sup>	NDITION WITH BAR HEALTH C/	RIERS TO ARE USE <sup>‡</sup>
	ADULTS	NUMBER	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	CHILDREN	NUMBER	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*
San Francisco	674,000	219,000	32.6%	1	59.1%	3	23.6%	3	108,000	14,000	13.0%	2	21.4%§	1	-	-
San Joaquin	443,000	169,000	38.3%	4	52.6%	1	29.1%	5	204,000	34,000	16.9%	3	51.0%	1	17.5% <sup>§</sup>	2
San Luis Obispo	192,000	63,000	32.9%	1	55.0%	2	20.9%	2	51,000	5,000	10.2%§	1	50.3% <sup>§</sup>	1	-	-
San Mateo	558,000	211,000	37.8%	3	50.5%	1	20.3%	2	153,000	26,000	17.2%	4	35.2% <sup>§</sup>	1	11.3%§	1
Santa Barbara	300,000	100,000	33.4%	1	50.8%	1	33.7%	5	102,000	19,000	19.1%	5	33.8% <sup>§</sup>	1	19.7% <sup>§</sup>	3
Santa Clara	1,321,000	435,000	32.9%	1	57.4%	3	20.8%	2	432,000	68,000	15.7%	3	67.5%	4	35.1%	5
Santa Cruz	197,000	73,000	36.9%	3	59.5%	4	17.2%	1	56,000	8,000	13.5%	2	75.9%	5	15.3%§	2
Shasta	136,000	57,000	42.3%	5	64.1%	5	22.1%	2	40,000	4,000	10.1%§	1	85.2%	5	38.1% <sup>§</sup>	5
Solano	298,000	129,000	43.2%	5	64.8%	5	24.4%	3	104,000	11,000	10.4%	1	52.7%	2	17.9% <sup>§</sup>	2
Sonoma	355,000	113,000	31.7%	1	56.7%	2	12.6%	1	110,000	21,000	19.3%	5	35.8% <sup>§</sup>	1	40.1% <sup>§</sup>	5
Stanislaus	348,000	155,000	44.5%	5	54.5%	2	27.7%	4	154,000	27,000	17.5%	4	64.2%	3	14.1% <sup>§</sup>	1
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	49,000	44.1%	5	68.2%	5	28.5%	4	47,000	8,000	16.6%	3	73.5%	4	-	-
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	82,000	40,000	49.2%	5	63.4%	4	23.8%	3	27,000	6,000	21.2%	5	79.1%	5	12.7% <sup>§</sup>	1
Tulare	288,000	106,000	36.7%	3	63.5%	5	30.9%	5	125,000	27,000	21.7%	5	52.1%	2	11.2%§	1
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	148,000	65,000	43.9%	5	63.6%	5	18.1%	1	33,000	4,000	13.6%§	2	25.7% <sup>§</sup>	1	35.3%§	5
Ventura	596,000	239,000	40.0%	4	59.5%	4	23.0%	3	206,000	24,000	11.6%	1	76.3%	5	26.7% <sup>§</sup>	4
Yolo	139,000	47,000	34.1%	2	49.1%	1	25.1%	4	44,000	6,000	12.6%	2	57.9%	2	24.7% <sup>§</sup>	4

\*The rates from counties and SPAs were ranked from lowest to highest and then divided into five groups or quintiles. Group 1 reflects counties or SPAs with the least amount of chronic conditions (best rates). Group 5 reflects counties or SPAs with the highest amount of a chronic conditions (worst rates).

flncludes adults who had four or more doctor visits in the past 12 months or went to the ER in the past 12 months, and children who had three or more doctor visits in the past 12 months or went to the ER in the past 12 months.

‡Includes adults/children who were not insured at any time in past 12 months, did not have a usual source of care, or had difficulty communicating with their doctor.

§Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Adult Chronic Condition Index is computed from adults who reported one or more of the following conditions: active asthma, congestive heart failure, diabetes, hypertension, or psychological distress. Child Chronic Condition Index is computed from children (ages 1 to 17) who reported one of the following conditions: active asthma or health status of fair or poor.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

### Table 2. Chronic Condition Indices and Access Indicators, Adults and Children, 2007

					ADU (AGE 18 AN	LTS						CHIL (AGE	DREN 1–17)		ALL	AGES
	WI ACTIVE	TH ASTHMA	WITH CON HEART I	NGESTIVE FAILURE	WI DIAB	TH ETES	WI HYPERT	TH ENSION	WI PSYCH D	TH ISTRESS	WI ACTIVE A	TH ASTHMA	WITH FA HEALTH	R-POOR STATUS	TOTAL N INDICA	IUMBER OF TORS IN
	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	BEST TWO GROUPS	WORST TWO GROUPS
California	8.1%	-	1.8%	-	7.8%	-	26.1%	-	3.8%	-	10.4%	-	6.8%	-	-	-
Alameda	8.9%	3	1.8%	3	7.8%	3	28.6%	4	2.3%	1	14.4%	5	6.8%†	3	1	2
Butte	11.3%	5	2.0%†	4	6.7%	2	28.3%	4	3.0%†	2	6.8%†	1	-	_	3	3
Contra Costa	8.9%	3	2.0%	3	6.5%	2	25.0%	2	2.6%†	1	15.2%	5	5.0%†	2	4	1
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	8.4%	3	2.0%†	3	7.9%	3	31.2%	5	5.6%	5	15.9% <sup>†</sup>	5	-	_	0	3
El Dorado	8.9%	3	1.4%†	2	6.9%	2	30.8%	5	3.5%	3	8.2%	1	2.3%†	1	4	1
Fresno	11.5%	5	1.4%†	2	10.5%	5	28.4%	4	4.3%†	4	13.1%	4	9.1% <sup>†</sup>	4	1	6
Humboldt	7.2%	2	1.7%	3	6.7%	2	23.0%	1	5.5% <sup>†</sup>	5	7.5%	1	6.6%†	3	4	1
Imperial	10.1%	4	2.2%	4	11.0%	5	28.9%	4	3.4%†	3	10.2%	3	12.3%	5	0	5
Kern	11.4%	5	2.2%†	4	9.3%	4	27.3%	3	3.8%	3	14.8%	5	6.0%†	3	0	4
Kings	8.2%	3	2.0%	4	10.4%	5	23.5%	1	5.3%	5	15.7%	5	10.0%	5	1	5
Lake	9.6%	4	2.5%	4	9.7%	5	37.3%	5	6.2%	5	11.9%	4	9.1% <sup>†</sup>	4	0	7
Los Angeles	6.8%	1	1.6%	2	8.8%	4	25.5%	2	3.8%	3	10.9%	3	8.4%	4	3	2
SPA 1-Antelope Valley	10.0%	4	2.2%†	4	8.0%	3	28.4%	4	4.8%	4	11.8%	4	4.2%†	2	1	5
SPA 2–San Fernando	6.9%	1	1.3%	1	9.3%	5	25.0%	2	2.9%	2	8.6%	2	5.6%	3	5	1
SPA 3-San Gabriel Valley	5.4%	1	1.1%	1	8.5%	4	25.6%	3	3.5%	3	13.3%	4	9.6%	5	2	3
SPA 4-Metro	5.3%	1	1.8%	3	8.5%	4	22.1%	1	4.6%	4	9.4%	3	7.6%	3	2	2
SPA 5–West Area	8.0%	2	1.4%†	2	6.2%	1	25.5%	2	1.1%†	1	13.9%†	5	4.2%†	2	6	1
SPA 6–South	8.3%	3	2.9%	5	9.9%	5	29.0%	4	7.0%	5	12.3%	4	14.1%	5	0	6
SPA 7–East Area	6.2%	1	1.3%	2	10.2%	5	26.1%	3	5.0%	4	8.6%	2	9.4%	5	3	3
SPA 8–South Bay	8.1%	2	1.6%	2	8.0%	3	25.3%	2	2.9%	2	12.4%	4	7.7%	4	4	2
Madera	10.8%	5	2.7%†	5	8.1%	3	28.3%	4	5.2%	4	9.6%	3	4.4%†	2	1	4
Marin	7.2%	2	0.5%†	1	4.0%†	1	19.9%	1	2.5%†	1	5.8%†	1	1.8%†	1	7	0
Mendocino	8.2%	2	3.2%	5	7.5%	3	37.1%	5	3.4%	3	8.1%†	1	9.9%†	5	2	3

					ADU (AGE 18 AN	LTS						CHILI (AGE	DREN 1–17)		ALL	AGES
	WI ACTIVE A	TH ASTHMA	WITH CON HEART F	NGESTIVE FAILURE	WI DIABI	TH ETES	WIT HYPERTE	TH ENSION	WI <sup>-</sup> PSYCH D	TH ISTRESS	WI ACTIVE A	TH ASTHMA	WITH FAI HEALTH	R-POOR STATUS	TOTAL N INDICA	IUMBER OF TORS IN
	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	BEST TWO GROUPS	WORST TWO GROUPS
Merced	14.7%	5	2.0%	3	7.5%	3	22.7%	1	3.8%	3	14.2%	5	7.8%†	4	1	3
Monterey	6.7%	1	2.7%†	5	8.4%	4	26.1%	3	3.3%	2	7.9%†	1	15.1%†	5	3	3
Napa	9.3%	4	2.4%†	4	9.2%	4	29.0%	4	2.3%	1	14.4%	5	9.1%†	4	1	6
Nevada	9.0%	4	3.0%†	5	4.9%	1	26.8%	3	3.1%	2	13.9%†	5	4.5%†	2	3	3
Orange	6.5%	1	1.6%	2	6.7%	2	21.7%	1	3.9%	3	9.2%	2	7.1%	3	5	0
Placer	6.8%	1	2.5%†	5	5.5%	1	23.5%	1	1.7%†	1	15.5%	5	2.8%†	1	5	2
Riverside	6.3%	1	1.8%	3	7.8%	3	27.1%	3	4.6%	4	4.9%	1	6.5%	3	2	1
Sacramento	13.3%	5	2.4%	4	6.6%	2	30.7%	5	5.6%	5	8.8%	2	2.9%†	1	3	4
San Benito	11.3%†	5	_	-	7.6%	3	22.1%	1	2.3%†	1	4.9%†	1	9.6%†	5	3	2
San Bernardino	9.0%	4	2.3%	4	9.2%	4	27.9%	3	4.0%	4	10.8%	3	4.9%	2	1	4
San Diego	8.0%	2	2.0%	3	6.3%	1	26.0%	3	3.3%	2	8.8%	2	4.6%	2	5	0
1–North Coastal	4.9%	1	1.0%†	1	5.9%	1	23.6%	2	3.6%†	3	9.3%	2	6.1% <sup>†</sup>	3	5	0
2–North Central	8.9%	3	1.0%†	1	3.8%	1	24.6%	2	1.8%†	1	7.4%	1	3.4%†	1	6	0
3-Central	7.9%	2	2.3%†	4	8.8%	4	28.0%	4	4.4%	4	11.3%†	4	5.1%†	3	1	5
4-South	9.2%	4	1.8%†	3	8.3%	4	28.2%	4	3.5%†	3	9.6%	3	2.1%†	1	1	3
5-East	9.4%	4	4.2%†	5	5.8%	1	29.5%	5	4.7%†	4	11.5%	4	7.0%†	3	1	5
6–North Inland	7.8%	2	1.8%†	3	6.1%	1	23.0%	1	2.4%	1	4.7%	1	4.2%†	2	6	0
San Francisco	6.3%	1	1.2%†	1	6.8%	2	22.8%	1	3.0%†	2	10.5%†	3	4.1%†	1	6	0
San Joaquin	10.1%	4	1.4%†	2	8.7%	4	28.3%	4	2.6%†	1	15.1%	5	8.7%†	4	2	5
San Luis Obispo	7.6%	2	1.7%†	2	3.9%	1	23.7%	2	3.1%†	2	9.3%†	2	2.3%†	1	7	0
San Mateo	8.6%	3	1.2%†	1	7.6%	3	26.5%	3	3.8%†	3	14.3%	5	4.0%†	1	2	1
Santa Barbara	8.2%	3	1.0%†	1	5.8%	1	22.4%	1	5.2%	5	10.2%†	3	8.7%†	4	3	2
Santa Clara	6.7%	1	1.6%	2	5.3%	1	25.2%	2	2.9%	2	8.5%	2	8.5%	4	6	1
Santa Cruz	11.7%	5	0.5%†	1	7.3%†	2	24.4%	2	2.6%†	2	10.0%†	3	3.4%†	1	5	1
Shasta	10.7%	5	1.9%†	3	6.6%	2	32.0%	5	3.3%	2	9.6%†	3	_	_	2	2

					ADU (AGE 18 AN	LTS						CHILI (AGE	DREN 1–17)		ALL	AGES
	WI ACTIVE A	TH ASTHMA	WITH CON HEART F	IGESTIVE AILURE	WI DIAB	TH ETES	WI HYPERT	TH ENSION	WI <sup>-</sup> PSYCH D	TH ISTRESS	WI ACTIVE A	TH ASTHMA	WITH FA	R-POOR STATUS	TOTAL N INDICA	IUMBER OF TORS IN
	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	PERCENT	GROUP*	BEST TWO GROUPS	WORST TWO GROUPS
Solano	11.9%	5	3.3%†	5	9.4%	5	29.9%	5	5.5%†	5	8.8%†	2	4.4%†	2	2	5
Sonoma	7.8%	2	1.5%†	2	7.1%	2	23.8%	2	1.0%†	1	8.3%†	1	10.8%†	5	6	1
Stanislaus	10.2%	4	2.7%†	5	7.7%	3	32.6%	5	4.2%	4	10.3%	3	8.7%†	4	0	5
Sutter, Yuba	11.2%	5	2.0%	4	9.0%	4	32.9%	5	7.6%	5	13.4%	4	4.8%†	2	1	6
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	19.1%	5	2.5%	5	10.0%	5	31.2%	5	8.7%	5	9.0%†	2	13.5%†	5	1	6
Tulare	7.4%	2	1.1%†	1	11.3%	5	27.3%	3	5.2%	5	12.4%	4	10.8%	5	2	4
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	8.5%	3	4.3%	5	10.1%	5	34.2%	5	4.4%	4	13.6%†	4	-	-	0	5
Ventura	8.7%	3	1.7%†	3	9.5%	5	27.0%	3	5.2%†	5	7.9%†	1	3.6%†	1	2	2
Yolo	9.6%	4	1.2%†	1	7.1%	2	22.1%	1	2.4%†	1	8.4%	2	5.8%†	3	5	1

\*The rates from counties and SPAs were ranked from lowest to highest and then divided into five groups or quintiles. Group 1 reflects counties or SPAs with the least amount of chronic conditions (best rates). Group 5 reflects counties or SPAs with the highest amount of a chronic conditions (worst rates).

†Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Adult Chronic Condition Index is computed from adults who reported one or more of the following conditions: active asthma, congestive heart failure, diabetes, hypertension, or psychological distress. Child Chronic Condition Index is computed from children (ages 1 to 17) who reported one of the following conditions: active asthma or health status of fair or poor.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

## **Adult Chronic Condition Indices**

Prevalence. In 2007, three out of ten California adults (36.0 percent) reported having at least one chronic health condition (including active asthma, CHF, diabetes, hypertension, or psychological distress). The proportion varied from 28.0 percent in Marin County to 49.2 percent in the Tehama/ Glenn/Colusa County cluster (Table 1). In addition to Marin County, the California areas with the lowest proportion of adult chronic conditions included Placer County (29.9 percent), the Los Angeles SPA 4-Metro (30.6 percent), the San Diego North Coastal region (31.6 percent), Sonoma County (31.7 percent), and Orange County (31.9 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of adult chronic conditions included Sutter/Yuba counties (44.1 percent), Stanislaus County (44.5 percent), Lake County (46.9 percent), Mendocino County (47.0 percent), and the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster (49.2 percent). To provide a snapshot of the chronic condition landscape across California, Map 1 presents the total proportion of adults reporting one or more chronic condition.

**Frequent health care utilization.** Among adults reporting a chronic condition, health care services are necessary to prevent and avoid further complications related to these health conditions. High rates of frequent users in an area may indicate a health care system that is less adequately controlling chronic conditions. It may also indicate that the underlying severity of chronic

#### Map 1. Percentage of Adults with One or More Chronic Conditions,\* by County, 2007



conditions in that area is higher than average. Over half of California adults responding that they have a chronic condition (57.7 percent) also reported frequent health care utilization, defined as visiting the doctor at least four times or going to the ER in the past year. However, the variation between counties/regions is large, ranging from 49.1 percent in Yolo County to 68.2 percent in Sutter/Yuba counties. In addition to Yolo County, the California areas with the lowest proportion of frequent health care utilization include Placer County (49.9 percent), San Mateo County (50.5 percent), Mendocino County (50.7 percent), and Santa Barbara County (50.8 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of health care utilization include Lake County (65.0 percent), Humboldt County (66.1 percent), Kings County (67.3 percent), Los Angeles SPA 1-Antelope Valley (67.3 percent), and Sutter/Yuba counties (68.2 percent). Map 2 presents this wide variation of frequent health care use among adults reporting a chronic condition.

**Barriers to health care.** Barriers to health care, such as lack of health insurance, no usual source of care, and difficulty communicating with doctors, may exacerbate chronic conditions and lead to preventable complications and avoidable hospitalizations. Overall, one-quarter of California adults reporting at least one chronic condition reported having barriers to health care (25.0 percent). Marin County reported the lowest proportion at 10.5 percent, compared







Map 3. Percentage of Adults with One or More Chronic Conditions\* with Barriers to Health Care Use, 2007

to Los Angeles SPA 4-Metro which reported the highest proportion at 42.4 percent. In addition to Marin County, the California areas with the lowest proportion of barriers to care include Sonoma County (12.6 percent), Placer County (16.4 percent), Contra Costa County (16.4 percent), and Nevada County (16.5 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of barriers to health care include Santa Barbara County (33.7 percent), the San Diego Central region (37.2 percent), Merced County (37.7 percent), Los Angeles SPA 6-South (41.4 percent), and Los Angeles SPA 4-Metro (42.4 percent). Map 3 shows the percentages of barriers to health care by county and region.

## **Children Chronic Condition Indices**

**Prevalence.** For children ages 1 to 17, one in six (16.0 percent) reported having at least one chronic health condition in 2007 (including active asthma or fair-to-poor health status). The proportion varied from 7.2 percent in Butte County to 22.7 percent in Imperial County (see Table 1). In addition to Butte, the California areas with the lowest proportion of children with chronic conditions included Marin County (7.7 percent), San Diego North Inland region (8.3 percent), San Diego North Central region (9.8 percent), and El Dorado County (10.2 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of children with chronic conditions included Kings County (21.4 percent), Tulare County (21.7 percent), Fresno County

(21.8 percent), Monterey County (22.5 percent), and Imperial County (22.7 percent). To provide a snapshot of the chronic condition landscape across California, Map 4 presents the total percentage of children reporting one or more chronic conditions.

Frequent health care utilization. Among children reporting a chronic condition, access and utilization of health care services are necessary to prevent and avoid further complications related to these health conditions. Over half of California children reporting a chronic condition (60.7 percent) reported frequent health care utilization such as three or more doctor visits in the past year or having an ER visit in the past year. San Francisco County reported the lowest proportion at 21.4 percent, compared to Shasta County which reported the highest proportion at 85.2 percent. In addition to San Francisco County, the California areas with the lowest proportion of health care utilization included the Tuolumne/ Calaveras/Amador/Inyo/Mariposa/Mono/Alpine County cluster (25.7 percent), Los Angeles SPA 5-West (30.1 percent), Santa Barbara County (33.8 percent), and San Mateo County (35.2 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of health care utilization included Imperial County (78.2 percent), the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster (79.1 percent), the San Diego North Central region (80.7 percent), Marin County (81.7 percent), and Shasta County (85.2 percent). Barriers to health care. Barriers to health care, such as lack of health insurance, no usual

#### Map 4. Percentage of Children with One or More Chronic Conditions,\* by County, 2007



source of care, and difficulty communicating with doctors, may exacerbate and lead to preventable complications. Overall, almost one-fourth of California children reporting at least one chronic condition reported having barriers to health care (22.7 percent). However, the variation between counties/regions was large, ranging from 10.4 percent in the San Diego North Inland region to 40.1 percent in Sonoma County. In addition to San Diego region 6-North Inland, the California areas with the lowest proportion of barriers to care included Tulare County (11.2 percent), San Mateo County (11.3 percent), Los Angeles SPA 5-West (12.6 percent), and the Tehama/ Glenn/Colusa County cluster (12.7 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of barriers to health care include Madera County (32.3 percent), the Tuolumne/Calaveras/Amador/Inyo/Mariposa/ Mono/Alpine County cluster (35.3 percent), Shasta County (38.1 percent), San Benito County (38.3 percent), and Sonoma County (40.1 percent).

# **II. Adult Chronic Conditions Prevalence and Characteristics**

THIS CHAPTER PROVIDES DATA ABOUT THE prevalence (percent reporting) for the following adult chronic conditions: active asthma, CHF, diabetes, hypertension, and psychological distress. Since the prevalence rate is based on the total county population, it is possible to compare the prevalence of chronic conditions between counties (or by county cluster and sub-county areas). Additional details about the characteristics of adults living with each specific chronic condition are provided, including demographic characteristics (e.g., low-income and older adults), health care coverage (e.g., uninsured or enrolled in Medi-Cal), and frequent health care utilization (e.g., average doctor visits or ER visit in the past year). Since the characteristics are only presented for adults reporting a chronic condition, these rates should not be compared between counties (or county cluster or sub-county areas) and should be examined only within the county-context. Demographic characteristics and frequent health care utilization data are presented for the total adult population (with and without chronic conditions). These total population data can be used to compare the demographic characteristics and frequent health care utilization of the entire county population with data on only the adults with chronic conditions in the same county (see

Tables 3.1 and 3.2). Examples of this are given for each condition.

**Total population characteristics.** In 2007, there were an estimated 27 million adults ages 18 and over living in California (see Table 3.1). Older adults ages 65 and over make up 14.5 percent of the total adult population. Among California adults, one-third (30.9 percent) reported being low-income. Twelve percent of adults reported having Medi-Cal coverage. However, one-quarter of Californians (23.8 percent) ages 18 to 64 reported being uninsured at some point in the past year. Thirty-three percent of all adults saw a doctor at least four times in the past year, and only 18.8 percent went to the ER in the past year. The diversity of Californians is reflected in the racial and ethnic makeup of the state. Across California, 29.0 percent of the adult population was Latino, 12.7 percent Asian, 5.7 percent African American, 4.1 percent American Indian and Alaska Native, and 1.1 percent other single/two or more races. Almost half of California adults (47.5 percent) were White (see Table 3.2). Regional variations were evident, with Latinos making up 39.3 percent and 37.3 percent of all adults in Los Angeles County and San Joaquin Valley region, respectively. In Bay Area counties and Los Angeles County, Asians made up 21.3 percent and 14.7 percent , respectively, of the total regional population.

#### Table 3.1 Total Adult Population, by Demographic, 2007

					IN PAST	12 MONTHS	AGES	18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	FOUR OR MORE MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
California	26,874,000	30.9%	12.0%	14.5%	18.8%	33.1%	22,973,000	23.8%
Alameda	1,134,000	25.1%	14.0%	13.7%	20.6%	33.6%	978,000	13.1%
Butte	164,000	36.0%	15.9%	18.4%	17.8%	37.7%	134,000	25.3%
Contra Costa	775,000	20.5%	10.4%	15.4%	20.0%	32.9%	656,000	16.4%
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	38.4%	16.5%	21.9%	24.0%	32.8%	88,000	29.3%
El Dorado	137,000	17.3%	6.1%	17.5%	19.1%	30.8%	113,000	16.9%
Fresno	628,000	39.9%	21.5%	13.0%	17.3%	34.5%	547,000	24.8%

					IN PAST	12 MONTHS	AGES	18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	FOUR OR MORE MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
Humboldt	100,000	30.2%	13.7%	15.5%	22.0%	28.6%	84,000	19.3%
Imperial	119,000	47.8%	20.9%	14.5%	17.2%	32.1%	102,000	27.1%
Kern	533,000	39.9%	14.1%	12.2%	19.7%	33.6%	468,000	33.9%
Kings	92,000	40.9%	16.7%	11.2%	22.8%	37.9%	82,000	28.0%
Lake	50,000	41.3%	18.7%	25.1%	24.2%	43.3%	38,000	24.2%
Los Angeles	7,328,000	38.2%	15.3%	14.2%	18.0%	33.1%	6,288,000	28.6%
SPA 1-Antelope Valley	230,000	33.1%	15.9%	13.4%	25.3%	34.8%	199,000	23.9%
SPA 2–San Fernando	1,522,000	27.9%	11.1%	14.6%	19.2%	34.0%	1,299,000	24.8%
SPA 3-San Gabriel Valley	1,386,000	36.7%	13.4%	14.7%	15.2%	32.2%	1,182,000	26.6%
SPA 4-Metro	880,000	50.2%	18.9%	11.1%	17.0%	27.8%	782,000	41.1%
SPA 5-West Area	520,000	17.4%	7.2%	17.7%	13.4%	36.2%	428,000	15.3%
SPA 6–South	668,000	67.3%	32.0%	12.9%	22.0%	28.2%	582,000	38.8%
SPA 7-East Area	948,000	41.3%	15.5%	14.6%	17.1%	34.8%	809,000	27.9%
SPA 8–South Bay	1,176,000	35.6%	14.4%	14.3%	19.7%	36.6%	1,008,000	27.4%
Madera	98,000	45.3%	14.8%	16.7%	24.2%	32.7%	82,000	38.0%
Marin	189,000	15.2%	5.8%*	19.4%	18.9%	30.9%	153,000	17.2%
Mendocino	68,000	41.2%	19.2%	18.2%	22.2%	34.4%	56,000	26.0%
Merced	171,000	48.3%	22.3%	12.6%	14.8%	32.1%	150,000	35.0%
Monterey	291,000	35.7%	11.6%	15.0%	17.9%	29.0%	247,000	36.1%
Napa	96,000	19.9%	7.4%	18.3%	20.3%	34.5%	79,000	16.2%
Nevada	80,000	21.7%	5.8%	22.1%	22.6%	31.7%	62,000	22.4%
Orange	2,256,000	27.9%	7.2%	13.7%	18.0%	34.3%	1,946,000	24.3%
Placer	238,000	14.5%	3.6%*	18.3%	14.4%	32.4%	195,000	9.8%
Riverside	1,403,000	31.2%	9.6%	14.8%	18.9%	32.1%	1,196,000	26.4%
Sacramento	1,003,000	26.6%	12.9%	14.5%	18.5%	32.8%	857,000	16.1%
San Benito	41,000	26.7%	8.2%	12.1%	17.6%	36.0%	36,000	25.2%
San Bernardino	1,382,000	31.8%	10.4%	12.0%	23.1%	28.9%	1,216,000	23.8%

					IN PAST	12 MONTHS	AGES	18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	FOUR OR MORE MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
San Diego	2,198,000	24.5%	8.5%	14.5%	19.3%	33.1%	1,881,000	23.4%
1–North Coastal	367,000	22.4%	5.3%	15.6%	19.9%	35.3%	310,000	22.5%
2–North Central	442,000	17.1%	5.7%*	16.1%	17.7%	29.8%	371,000	16.0%
3-Central	370,000	37.5%	13.6%	10.7%	16.9%	31.4%	330,000	34.4%
4-South	286,000	28.2%	9.5%	14.9%	22.1%	33.7%	243,000	26.6%
5-East	356,000	23.8%	10.6%	15.5%	17.7%	36.2%	301,000	22.2%
6–North Inland	378,000	20.0%	7.4%	13.9%	22.4%	32.9%	325,000	20.5%
San Francisco	674,000	24.0%	10.1%	16.1%	22.0%	29.6%	565,000	14.8%
San Joaquin	443,000	30.7%	9.1%	14.2%	17.3%	27.4%	380,000	28.2%
San Luis Obispo	192,000	26.9%	5.4%	20.4%	17.0%	26.7%	153,000	23.1%
San Mateo	558,000	18.2%	5.9%	15.7%	15.6%	33.2%	470,000	13.8%
Santa Barbara	300,000	31.6%	10.8%	16.8%	16.1%	32.3%	250,000	19.5%
Santa Clara	1,321,000	23.7%	9.0%	14.4%	18.2%	33.8%	1,130,000	18.1%
Santa Cruz	197,000	29.7%	12.6%	11.8%	18.9%	31.0%	174,000	22.6%
Shasta	136,000	36.8%	14.2%	19.5%	22.4%	40.6%	109,000	28.8%
Solano	298,000	21.5%	14.5%	13.7%	23.0%	38.5%	257,000	17.8%
Sonoma	355,000	19.2%	8.7%	15.7%	14.3%	35.0%	299,000	15.1%
Stanislaus	348,000	35.9%	13.8%	14.0%	20.1%	39.9%	299,000	27.9%
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	37.8%	16.8%	15.7%	24.4%	41.8%	94,000	24.4%
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	82,000	48.4%	19.0%	18.6%	20.0%	38.6%	66,000	29.8%
Tulare	288,000	44.8%	21.3%	13.0%	16.0%	37.4%	250,000	28.6%
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	148,000	23.9%	8.2%	25.4%	24.1%	38.4%	110,000	23.8%
Ventura	596,000	20.8%	9.5%	14.4%	17.9%	37.0%	511,000	20.3%
Yolo	139,000	29.9%	5.9%	12.2%	18.3%	31.5%	122,000	19.7%

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 3.2. Total Adult Population, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE/ TWO OR MORE RACES
California	26,874,000	29.0%	4.1%	12.7%	5.7%	47.5%	1.1%
Northern/Sierra Counties	1,052,000	9.8%	5.8%	2.5%	0.7%	80.4%	0.8%
Bay Area Counties	5,399,000	17.1%	3.4%	21.3%	6.2%	50.5%	1.5%
Sacramento Area Counties	1,517,000	14.2%	4.5%	10.2%	6.1%	63.4%	1.6%
San Joaquin Valley Counties	2,601,000	37.3%	5.3%	6.8%	3.7%	46.3%	0.6%
Central Coast Counties	1,618,000	28.3%	5.3%	5.3%	1.9%	58.0%	1.1%
Los Angeles County	7,328,000	39.3%	3.9%	14.7%	8.5%	32.6%	1.0%
Other Southern California Counties	7,358,000	30.3%	3.8%	10.0%	4.6%	50.3%	1.0%

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Notes: Race/ethnicity is defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 4.1. Adults with Active Asthma in the Past 12 Months, 2007

					AMO	NG ADUL	TS WITH	ACTIVE	ASTHMA	
							IN PAST 1	2 MOS	AGES	5 18– <b>6</b> 4
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
California	26,874,000	2,181,000	8.1%	32.3%	19.1%	14.1%	33.7%	50.7%	1,873,000	17.4%
Alameda	1,134,000	101,000	8.9%	17.7%	16.8%	12.8%	37.2%	41.4%	88,000	12.5%*
Butte	164,000	19,000	11.3%	55.6%	34.5%	20.5%	26.4%	57.1%	15,000	10.8%*
Contra Costa	775,000	69,000	8.9%	14.7%	7.1%*	14.6%	23.4%	41.0%	59,000	11.6%*
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	9,000	8.4%	55.2%	38.6%	15.2%*	45.4%	61.4%	8,000	22.8%*
El Dorado	137,000	12,000	8.9%	12.3%*	-	18.3%*	28.9%	47.9%	10,000	9.3%*
Fresno	628,000	72,000	11.5%	41.6%	38.9%	8.7%	33.5%	57.1%	66,000	12.2%*
Humboldt	100,000	7,000	7.2%	28.6%	25.9%	14.0%	34.3%	53.4%	6,000	12.1%*
Imperial	119,000	12,000	10.1%	41.4%	21.7%	13.8%	34.4%	54.4%	10,000	16.9%*
Kern	533,000	60,000	11.4%	52.6%	26.0%	15.7%*	22.2%	51.8%	51,000	31.8%*
Kings	92,000	8,000	8.2%	42.0%	23.9%*	8.0%*	54.1%	72.0%	7,000	16.0%*

## **Active Asthma**

Asthma is a common chronic respiratory disease that affects people of all ages. People with asthma often experience "episodes or attacks of inflammation and narrowing of small airways in response to asthma triggers" such as allergens, air pollutants, exercise, or changes in the weather.9 In 2007, 13 percent of California adults reported that they were "ever diagnosed with asthma."10 While some adults with asthma experience attacks that vary from mild to life-threatening, others may not experience any symptoms in the past year. By identifying adults with current or active asthma symptoms in the course of a year, a better understanding of demographic characteristics, health care utilization, and barriers to care among adults living with asthma can be gained.

**Statewide characteristics.** In 2007, an estimated 2.2 million Californians ages 18 and over (8.1 percent) reported an asthma episode in the past year (see Table 4.1). Among California adults reporting active asthma, almost one-third (32.3 percent) reported being low-income, which is fairly similar to the percentage of low-income adults among all Californians (30.9 percent). Adults ages 65 and over were similarly represented among adults reporting active asthma (14.1 percent) and in the total adult population (14.5 percent). Health care coverage was slightly better than the statewide average for California adults reporting active asthma. Among adults with active asthma, 17.4 percent reported being

					AMO	NG ADUL	TS WITH	ACTIVE	ASTHMA	
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES 18-64	
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
Lake	50,000	5,000	9.6%	50.5%	25.5%	21.3%	52.7%	53.6%	4,000	14.7%
Los Angeles	7,328,000	500,000	6.8%	33.9%	20.4%	15.2%	33.3%	54.3%	424,000	19.1%
SPA 1– Antelope Valley	230,000	23,000	10.0%	34.4%	26.0%	18.0%*	38.4%	72.5%	19,000	6.7%*
SPA 2– San Fernando	1,522,000	105,000	6.9%	16.5%	7.3%*	11.1%	34.4%	54.1%	93,000	16.3%
SPA 3- San Gabriel Valley	1,386,000	74,000	5.4%	43.7%	20.3%	15.3%	31.3%	56.7%	63,000	23.0%
SPA 4-Metro	880,000	46,000	5.3%	61.0%	24.4%	18.7%	40.3%	47.8%	38,000	34.8%
SPA 5–West Area	520,000	42,000	8.0%	5.3%*	2.3%*	21.2%	13.2%*	59.0%	33,000	25.9%*
SPA 6–South	668,000	56,000	8.3%	65.5%	55.2%	16.3%*	44.9%	58.8%	47,000	12.8%*
SPA 7–East Area	948,000	58,000	6.2%	28.0%	19.4%	14.4%	32.4%	51.0%	50,000	17.1%*
SPA 8–South Bay	1,176,000	95,000	8.1%	29.4%	19.9%*	14.6%	31.5%	48.6%	82,000	16.9%*
Madera	98,000	11,000	10.8%	44.7%	27.3%	16.6%*	34.9%	54.6%	9,000	17.9%*
Marin	189,000	14,000	7.2%	3.9%*	5.5%*	15.1%*	30.9%*	34.4%*	11,000	-
Mendocino	68,000	6,000	8.2%	54.9%	27.9%	16.1%*	39.7%	66.2%	5,000	16.8%*
Merced	171,000	25,000	14.7%	35.5%	43.4%*	15.9%*	22.0%*	58.9%	21,000	7.9%*
Monterey	291,000	19,000	6.7%	31.2%	18.3%*	8.2%	41.9%	54.0%	18,000	14.7%*
Napa	96,000	9,000	9.3%	22.4%*	14.6%*	20.6%	36.4%	47.3%	7,000	16.1%*
Nevada	80,000	7,000	9.0%	26.4%	14.6%*	15.8%	46.3%	39.3%	6,000	17.5%*
Orange	2,256,000	147,000	6.5%	31.9%	8.5%	16.4%	28.2%	49.2%	123,000	26.4%
Placer	238,000	16,000	6.8%	23.9%*	14.5%*	21.7%*	31.7%	61.7%	13,000	10.3%*
Riverside	1,403,000	89,000	6.3%	40.2%	15.2%	18.1%	33.9%	46.3%	73,000	18.6%*
Sacramento	1,003,000	134,000	13.3%	41.1%	30.1%	10.5%	37.1%	52.6%	120,000	11.3%*
San Benito	41,000	5,000	11.3%*	60.0%*	-	12.1%*	14.0%*	31.1%*	4,000	59.5%*
San Bernardino	1,382,000	124,000	9.0%	32.2%	18.6%	11.1%	35.2%	43.0%	110,000	22.7%
San Diego	2,198,000	176,000	8.0%	29.4%	18.5%	13.2%	36.0%	58.9%	152,000	14.5%
1–North Coastal	367,000	18,000	4.9%	29.5%*	30.0%*	23.0%	30.6%	46.2%	14,000	6.5%*

uninsured at some point in the past year, which was lower than the 23.8 percent for all adults statewide. Nineteen percent with active asthma had Medi-Cal coverage, compared to 12.0 percent of all California adults. Health care utilization was much higher among California adults reporting active asthma compared to all California adults. Half of adults (50.7 percent) reporting active asthma saw a doctor at least four times in the past year, and 33.7 percent went to the ER.

County prevalence. The prevalence of adult active asthma ranged from 4.9 percent in the San Diego North Coastal region to 19.1 percent in the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster. In addition to San Diego region 1-North Coastal, the California areas with the lowest proportion of adult active asthma included Los Angeles SPA 4-Metro (5.3 percent), Los Angeles SPA 3-San Gabriel Valley (5.4 percent), Los Angeles SPA 7-East (6.2 percent), San Francisco County (6.3 percent), and Riverside County (6.3 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of adult active asthma included Santa Cruz County (11.7 percent), Solano County (11.9 percent), Sacramento (13.3 percent), Merced County (14.7 percent), and the Tehama/Glenn/ Colusa County cluster (19.1 percent).

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible

				AMONG ADULTS WITH ACTIVE ASTHMA							
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	18-64	
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED	
2-North Central	442,000	39,000	8.9%	15.0%*	6.8%*	14.7%	25.8%	53.3%	34,000	7.7%*	
3–Central	370,000	29,000	7.9%	51.0%	23.2%	10.0%*	45.7%	75.3%	26,000	12.9%*	
4–South	286,000	26,000	9.2%	17.7%*	10.5%*	12.9%*	56.4%	57.9%	23,000	13.6%*	
5–East	356,000	33,000	9.4%	47.8%	39.2%*	13.1%*	26.4%	72.7%	29,000	18.4%*	
6–North Inland	378,000	29,000	7.8%	16.5%	5.9%*	8.7%*	36.3%	43.1%	27,000	25.5%*	
San Francisco	674,000	42,000	6.3%	37.9%*	7.6%*	17.5%*	52.5%	33.4%*	35,000	29.3%*	
San Joaquin	443,000	45,000	10.1%	50.4%	17.8%*	11.8%*	34.3%	39.0%	39,000	42.1%	
San Luis Obispo	192,000	15,000	7.6%	21.0%*	8.9%*	9.6%*	25.2%*	32.9%	13,000	13.9%*	
San Mateo	558,000	48,000	8.6%	10.7%*	6.7%*	15.9%*	37.1%*	62.7%	40,000	3.0%*	
Santa Barbara	300,000	25,000	8.2%	27.7%*	11.7%*	9.1%*	21.4%*	29.2%	22,000	21.4%*	
Santa Clara	1,321,000	89,000	6.7%	19.2%	12.5%	15.7%	38.5%	52.1%	75,000	7.3%*	
Santa Cruz	197,000	23,000	11.7%	29.4%*	12.8%*	11.9%*	27.0%*	52.6%	20,000	6.2%*	
Shasta	136,000	15,000	10.7%	44.6%	14.0%*	14.9%*	56.8%	64.8%	12,000	35.8%*	
Solano	298,000	35,000	11.9%	20.5%*	37.2%*	11.1%*	56.1%	54.1%	31,000	-	
Sonoma	355,000	28,000	7.8%	21.8%*	9.4%*	19.9%	30.8%	41.1%	22,000	9.2%*	
Stanislaus	348,000	35,000	10.2%	36.8%*	25.1%*	10.3%*	22.7%*	51.3%	32,000	17.3%*	
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	13,000	11.2%	43.8%	26.7%	11.9%	46.5%	55.8%	11,000	25.8%	
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	82,000	16,000	19.1%	54.1%	34.4%	12.2%*	36.1%	48.0%	14,000	16.2%*	
Tulare	288,000	21,000	7.4%	70.3%	39.8%	7.4%*	37.5%	60.9%	20,000	24.5%*	
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	148,000	13,000	8.5%	24.1%	19.6%*	24.0%	38.3%	55.3%	10,000	38.5%	
Ventura	596,000	52,000	8.7%	9.6%*	8.2%*	13.3%	19.4%*	44.7%	45,000	16.4%*	
Yolo	139,000	13,000	9.6%	46.7%*	11.9%*	14.1%*	20.1%*	35.9%	11,000	-	

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (--) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate. Note: Active asthma is defined in the Appendix under "Variables."

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

to compare the characteristics of adults with active asthma to the characteristics of all adults in the same county, however. For example, in Fresno County, 33.5 percent of adults with active asthma used the emergency room in the past year (Table 4.1), which is almost twice as often as did all Fresno County adults (17.3 percent, Table 3.1).

Racial and ethnic characteristics. Among California adults reporting active asthma, the racial-ethnic distribution was 20.6 percent Latino, 6.0 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, 8.9 percent Asian, 8.2 percent African American, 54.6 percent White, and 1.7 percent other single/two or more races (see Table 4.2). Whites had a higher proportion of adult active asthma in comparison to their total adult population (54.6 percent versus 47.5 percent) (see also Table 3.2). Similarly, African Americans in California were over-represented in the adult population reporting active asthma (8.2 percent versus 5.7 percent). Programs targeting adults with active asthma need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but adults with active asthma were disproportionately Latino in the Sacramento Area counties; disproportionately African American in the Bay Area counties, Sacramento Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, Los Angeles County, and other Southern California counties; and disproportionately American Indian/Alaska Native in all California regions except for the Central Coast counties.

#### Table 4.2. Adults with Active Asthma in the Past 12 Months, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE TWO OF MORE RACES
California	2,181,000	20.6%	6.0%	8.9%	8.2%	54.6%	1.7%
Northern/Sierra Counties	108,000	5.0%	8.6%	0.9%*	_	83.9%	1.2%*
Bay Area Counties	434,000	10.6%	3.9%	20.8%	7.2%	54.9%	2.6%*
Sacramento Area Counties	175,000	15.7%	8.7%*	2.2%*	13.1%	57.7%	2.6%
San Joaquin Valley Counties	278,000	29.7%	7.1%	5.7%	4.0%*	53.0%	0.5%*
Central Coast Counties	138,000	17.0%	4.6%*	3.9%*	0.8%*	69.0%	4.6%*
Los Angeles County	500,000	27.9%	7.6%	9.3%	14.1%	40.0%	1.0%*
Other Southern California Counties	547,000	23.0%	4.7%	5.9%	7.4%	57.8%	1.3%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Active asthma and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 5.1. Adults Diagnosed with Congestive Heart Failure, 2007

				AMONG ADULTS WITH CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE									
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES 18-64				
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED			
California	26,874,000	476,000	1.8%	43.8%	31.1%	<b>56.8%</b>	44.3%	71.7%	206,000	16.8%			
Alameda	1,134,000	20,000	1.8%	31.7%*	26.7%*	51.8%	70.8%	81.4%	10,000	-			
Butte	164,000	3,000	2.0%*	61.3%	30.7%*	62.0%*	30.7%*	72.2%	1,000	-			
Contra Costa	775,000	15,000	2.0%	27.1%*	15.7%*	49.1%	26.5%*	73.0%	8,000	-			
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	2,000	2.0%*	28.8%*	23.0%*	73.5%	45.0%*	87.9%	1,000	_			
El Dorado	137,000	2,000	1.4%*	28.3%*	-	39.8%*	67.9%	75.8%	1,000	-			
Fresno	628,000	9,000	1.4%*	56.9%	21.8%*	63.0%	39.8%*	53.0%*	3,000	-			
Humboldt	100,000	2,000	1.7%	34.0%*	38.8%*	64.9%	56.1%	58.0%	1,000	-			
Imperial	119,000	3,000	2.2%	56.5%	26.4%*	71.1%	44.5%	74.9%	1,000	-			
Kern	533,000	12,000	2.2%*	76.2%	42.5%*	85.6%	28.1%*	69.1%	2,000	_			
Kings	92,000	2,000	2.0%	31.7%*	28.3%*	55.7%	37.3%*	86.2%	1,000	_			

## **Congestive Heart Failure (CHF)**

Heart disease is the leading cause of death for both women and men in the U.S.<sup>11</sup> In 2007, 6.3 percent of California adults reported ever being diagnosed with heart disease.<sup>12</sup> One of the most serious heart conditions is CHF where the heart cannot pump enough blood and oxygen to meet the needs of other body organs.<sup>13</sup> People diagnosed with CHF can improve their quality of life and prevent hospitalizations by following a doctor's recommended guidelines for prescribed medicine, physical activity, and diet. Yet barriers to health care may lead to unnecessary and preventable hospitalizations for adults reporting CHF.

Statewide characteristics. In 2007, almost half a million Californians ages 18 and over (1.8 percent) reported that they had been diagnosed with CHF (see Table 5.1). Compared to the total older adult population in California (14.5 percent), more than half of adults reporting CHF (56.8 percent) were ages 65 and older. Among California adults reporting CHF, two out of five (43.8 percent) reported being low-income, which is higher than the percentage of low-income adults among all Californians (30.9 percent). Healthcare coverage was slightly better than the statewide average for California adults reporting CHF. Among adults (ages 18 to 64) reporting CHF, 16.8 percent reported being uninsured in the past year, which was lower than the 23.8 percent of all adults (ages 18 to 64) statewide. Thirty-one percent of adults with CHF had Medi-Cal

				AMONG ADULTS WITH CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE								
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGE	S 18-64		
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED		
Lake	50,000	1,000	2.5%	42.5%	47.4%	73.7%	55.6%	89.5%	-	-		
Los Angeles	7,328,000	114,000	1.6%	51.7%	41.4%	57.0%	45.8%	72.1%	49,000	19.4%*		
SPA 1– Antelope Valley	230,000	5,000	2.2%*	34.0%*	31.1%*	48.3%*	56.2%	59.7%	3,000	_		
SPA 2– San Fernando	1,522,000	20,000	1.3%	27.8%*	45.0%*	37.7%*	61.7%	66.8%	13,000	4.7%*		
SPA 3– San Gabriel Valley	1,386,000	15,000	1.1%	47.8%	30.8%	68.8%	43.3%	67.6%	5,000	46.1%*		
SPA 4-Metro	880,000	15,000	1.8%	76.7%	48.1%	48.0%	47.3%	70.4%	8,000	49.2%*		
SPA 5-West Area	520,000	7,000	1.4%*	35.8%*	35.7%*	90.9%	54.2%	75.8%	1,000	-		
SPA 6-South	668,000	19,000	2.9%	93.3%	82.5%	53.6%	44.2%	79.5%	9,000	29.2%*		
SPA 7–East Area	948,000	12,000	1.3%	35.2%*	4.8%*	65.4%	45.0%	86.5%	4,000	-		
SPA 8–South Bay	1,176,000	19,000	1.6%	39.0%	27.0%*	62.5%	25.9%*	67.5%	7,000	-		
Madera	98,000	3,000	2.7%*	48.9%*	57.3%	67.1%	49.0%*	86.4%	1,000	-		
Marin	189,000	1,000	0.5%*	-	-	100.0%	-	-	-	_		
Mendocino	68,000	2,000	3.2%	27.6%*	-	62.3%	34.8%*	58.8%	1,000	_		
Merced	171,000	3,000	2.0%	67.0%	32.3%*	57.9%	47.6%*	89.1%	1,000	53.4%*		
Monterey	291,000	8,000	2.7%*	23.5%*	24.4%*	29.5%*	69.0%	74.6%	6,000	-		
Napa	96,000	2,000	2.4%*	-	-	75.1%	32.3%*	41.3%*	1,000	_		
Nevada	80,000	2,000	3.0%*	21.0%*	28.3%*	81.0%	21.5%*	63.3%	-	_		
Orange	2,256,000	37,000	1.6%	32.6%	17.2%*	70.1%	42.7%*	73.8%	11,000	_		
Placer	238,000	6,000	2.5%*	46.4%*	22.9%*	80.7%	56.4%	99.8%	1,000	-		
Riverside	1,403,000	25,000	1.8%	40.7%	13.1%*	45.5%	37.4%	50.0%	14,000	59.6%*		
Sacramento	1,003,000	24,000	2.4%	31.1%	22.8%*	64.0%	50.6%	67.7%	9,000	14.0%*		
San Benito	41,000	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
San Bernardino	1,382,000	32,000	2.3%	46.0%	35.3%	44.2%	39.0%	60.6%	18,000	28.1%*		
San Diego	2,198,000	44,000	2.0%	55.6%	48.5%	54.5%	31.8%	72.6%	20,000	14.5%*		
1–North Coastal	367,000	4,000	1.0%*	36.2%*	40.7%*	75.1%	31.6%*	63.6%	1,000	_		

coverage, compared to 12.0 percent of all California adults. Health care utilization was substantially higher among California adults reporting CHF compared to all California adults. Almost three-quarters of adults reporting CHF saw a doctor at least four times in the past year (71.7 percent), and almost half went to the ER in the past year (44.3 percent).

**County prevalence.** The prevalence of CHF ranged from less than one percent in Marin and Santa Cruz counties (0.5 percent) to 4.3 percent in the Tuolumne/Calaveras/Amador/Inyo/Mariposa/ Mono/Alpine county cluster. In addition to Marin and Santa Cruz counties, the California areas with the lowest proportion of adult CHF included the San Diego North Coastal region (1.0 percent), the San Diego North Central region (1.0 percent), and Santa Barbara County (1.0 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of adult CHF included Nevada County (3.0 percent), Mendocino County (3.2 percent), Solano County (3.3 percent), the San Diego East region (4.2 percent), and the Tuolumne/Calaveras/Amador/ Inyo/Mariposa/ Mono/Alpine county cluster (4.3 percent).

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible to compare the characteristics of adults with CHF to the characteristics of all adults in the same

	AMONG ADULTS WITH CONGESTIVE HEART FAILURE									AILUKE
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGE	S 18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
2-North Central	442,000	5,000	1.0%*	34.1%*	35.2%*	89.3%	33.4%*	72.7%	-	-
3–Central	370,000	9,000	2.3%*	64.0%	61.8%	74.7%	42.5%*	60.3%	2,000	-
4–South	286,000	5,000	1.8%*	59.5%	49.2%*	78.8%	18.5%*	49.6%*	1,000	-
5–East	356,000	15,000	4.2%*	62.6%*	57.7%*	21.8%*	22.5%*	95.1%	12,000	-
6–North Inland	378,000	7,000	1.8%*	51.4%*	23.6%*	49.4%*	48.0%*	60.2%	3,000	60.2%*
San Francisco	674,000	8,000	1.2%*	24.9%*	32.0%*	57.9%*	75.6%	76.4%	3,000	-
San Joaquin	443,000	6,000	1.4%*	33.3%*	_	70.2%	41.0%*	71.3%	2,000	_
San Luis Obispo	192,000	3,000	1.7%*	40.8%*	31.2%*	70.8%	36.7%*	76.3%*	1,000	_
San Mateo	558,000	6,000	1.2%*	9.5%*	15.4%*	64.9%	48.9%*	88.2%	2,000	_
Santa Barbara	300,000	3,000	1.0%*	52.6%*	37.8%*	75.9%	67.4%	85.8%	1,000	-
Santa Clara	1,321,000	21,000	1.6%	55.9%	30.7%*	51.9%	43.7%*	64.5%	10,000	-
Santa Cruz	197,000	1,000	0.5%*	_	_	84.0%	60.4%	83.0%	_	_
Shasta	136,000	3,000	1.9%*	22.7%*	23.1%*	57.3%	60.7%	92.2%	1,000	_
Solano	298,000	10,000	3.3%*	11.6%*	55.0*	49.0%*	71.7%	93.6%	5,000	-
Sonoma	355,000	5,000	1.5%*	30.6%*	20.6%*	45.6%*	41.9%*	85.3%	3,000	25.2%*
Stanislaus	348,000	9,000	2.7%*	52.8%	36.0%*	32.2%*	27.4%*	61.8%	6,000	40.1%*
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	2,000	2.0%	28.1%	-	66.0%	39.2%	72.3%	1,000	-
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	82,000	2,000	2.5%	54.4%	-	71.7%	49.9%	79.7%	1,000	-
Tulare	288,000	3,000	1.1%*	75.0%*	43.9%*	47.9%*	62.8%	96.8%	2,000	36.6%*
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	148,000	6,000	4.3%	46.2%	29.1%*	70.3%	64.3%	71.5%	2,000	-
Ventura	596,000	10,000	1.7%*	53.6%*	_	37.6%*	24.4%*	91.8%	6,000	19.0%*
Yolo	139,000	2,000	1.2%*	-	-	66.8%	_	73.6%	1,000	-

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Note: Congestive heart failure is defined in the Appendix under "Variables."

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

county, however. For example, in Orange County, 70.1 percent of adults with CHF were ages 65 and over (Table 5.1), which was dramatically higher than the 13.7 percent of all Orange County adults who were elderly (Table 3.1). Note that due to the relatively low number of adults with CHF in many counties, the estimates of many of their characteristics are not statistically stable (indicated by an asterisk) and should be considered "ballpark" estimates.

Racial and ethnic characteristics. Among California adults reporting CHF, the racial-ethnic distribution was 20.2 percent Latino, 5.7 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, 9.0 percent Asian, 7.0 percent African American, 55.8 percent White, and 2.3 percent other single/two or more races (see Table 5.2). Compared to their total adult population in California, African Americans had a higher proportion of adults reporting having been diagnosed with CHF (5.7 percent versus 7.0 percent, see also Table 3.2). Similarly, American Indians/Alaska Natives were overrepresented in the adult population reporting CHF (4.1 percent versus 5.7 percent). Programs targeting adults reporting CHF need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but adults reporting CHF were disproportionately African American in the Sacramento Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, Los Angeles County, and other Southern California counties, and disproportionately American Indian/ Alaska Native in Northern/Sierra counties, Bay

#### Table 5.2. Adults Diagnosed with Congestive Heart Failure, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE TWO OF MORE RACES
California	476,000	20.2%	5.7%	9.0%	7.0%	55.8%	2.3%
Northern/Sierra Counties	26,000	6.6%*	9.4%*	_	_	83.2%	-
Bay Area Counties	90,000	16.4%*	5.3%*	11.4%*	5.9%*	60.3%	0.8%*
Sacramento Area Counties	34,000	1.6%*	6.2%*	7.9%*	13.7%*	69.1%	1.5%*
San Joaquin Valley Counties	47,000	22.9%	6.8%*	6.0%*	4.3%*	59.0%	-
Central Coast Counties	26,000	10.7%*	18.0%*	2.9%*	-	51.7%	16.7%*
Los Angeles County	114,000	37.6%	2.4%*	11.9%*	11.5%*	33.0%	3.5%*
Other Southern California Counties	140,000	16.2%	5.2%*	9.3%*	6.0%	62.9%	0.5%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Congestive heart failure and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding. Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey. Area counties, Sacramento Area counties, the San Joaquin Valley, Central Coast counties, and other Southern California counties.

## **Diabetes**

The number of people with diabetes has grown dramatically in the last fifteen years in the US.<sup>14</sup> Diabetes is a condition "marked by high levels of blood glucose resulting from defects in insulin production, insulin action, or both."<sup>15</sup> If left untreated, diabetes can lead to serious complications (e.g., blindness, kidney damage, and lower-limb amputations) and premature death. As an ACSC, diabetes hospitalizations can be prevented through healthy diet, physical activity, and prescribed medication. Similar to other chronic conditions in this report, access to health care and disease management were key factors in reducing the burden of diabetes.

**Statewide characteristics.** In 2007, 2 million Californians ages 18 and over (7.8 percent) reported "ever having been diagnosed" with diabetes (see Table 6.1). Nationally, about onequarter of people with diabetes do not know they have diabetes.<sup>16</sup> Thirty-four percent of California adults reporting diabetes were 65 or older, which is higher than the 14.5 percent for the total older adult population statewide. Compared to the total adult population who were low-income in California (30.9 percent), four out of ten California adults reporting diabetes were lowincome (42.3 percent). Among adults (ages 18 to

#### Table 6.1. Adults Diagnosed with Diabetes, 2007

				AMONG ADULIS WITH DIABETES							
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	6 18-64	
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED	
California	26,874,000	2,099,000	7.8%	42.3%	23.1%	34.1%	30.1%	62.8%	1,384,000	20.8%	
Alameda	1,134,000	88,000	7.8%	35.4%	19.7%	26.7%	39.0%	65.2%	65,000	5.5%*	
Butte	164,000	11,000	6.7%	37.8%	21.7%	39.3%	26.4%	74.2%	7,000	11.3%*	
Contra Costa	775,000	51,000	6.5%	35.6%*	15.7%*	30.7%	44.8%	46.6%	35,000	33.2%*	
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	9,000	7.9%	40.7%	26.6%*	41.9%	42.9%	66.4%	5,000	20.4%*	
El Dorado	137,000	10,000	6.9%	30.9%*	7.7%*	36.1%	34.7%*	42.1%	6,000	12.6%*	
Fresno	628,000	66,000	10.5%	61.2%	41.7%	32.0%	23.3%	54.2%	45,000	23.1%*	
Humboldt	100,000	7,000	6.7%	31.1%	16.8%*	31.3%	30.6%	74.0%	5,000	-	
Imperial	119,000	13,000	11.0%	61.7%	38.1%	46.0%	20.5%	71.3%	7,000	22.4%*	
Kern	533,000	50,000	9.3%	55.7%	13.2%*	31.4%	30.5%	65.4%	34,000	35.1%*	
Kings	92,000	10,000	10.4%	59.2%	35.3%	38.0%	32.0%	70.5%	6,000	29.2%*	
Lake	50,000	5,000	9.7%	50.5%	43.6%	45.5%	46.9%	84.4%	3,000	20.0%*	
Los Angeles	7,328,000	642,000	8.8%	49.2%	26.3%	34.3%	28.8%	63.7%	422,000	27.2%	
SPA 1– Antelope Valley	230,000	18,000	8.0%	46.2%	44.7%	37.5%	44.1%	78.3%	12,000	18.7%*	
SPA 2– San Fernando	1,522,000	142,000	9.3%	37.1%	15.4%	28.2%	35.5%	68.4%	102,000	22.1%*	
SPA 3– San Gabriel Valley	1,386,000	117,000	8.5%	51.7%	19.1%	38.8%	19.2%	50.1%	72,000	45.7%*	
SPA 4-Metro	880,000	75,000	8.5%	61.3%	34.0%	25.0%	27.3%	64.2%	56,000	40.2%	
SPA 5–West Area	520,000	32,000	6.2%	33.6%*	32.1%*	42.5%	18.2%*	81.9%	18,000	-	
SPA 6-South	668,000	66,000	9.9%	65.1%	46.8%	36.9%	32.1%	67.5%	42,000	31.0%*	
SPA 7–East Area	948,000	97,000	10.2%	52.9%	25.8%	41.4%	28.6%	55.1%	57,000	14.7%*	
SPA 8–South Bay	1,176,000	95,000	8.0%	45.8%	26.1%	32.8%	30.5%	70.0%	64,000	20.9%*	
Madera	98,000	8,000	8.1%	47.6%	28.6%*	49.1%	41.5%	77.1%	4,000	32.9%*	
Marin	189,000	8,000	4.0%*	62.3%	51.1%*	26.3%*	27.7%*	82.9%	6,000	13.9%*	

64) reporting diabetes, 20.8 percent reported being uninsured in the past year, which was similar to the 23.8 percent of adults (ages 18 to 64) statewide who reported being uninsured. Almost one-quarter of adults with diabetes had Medi-Cal coverage (23.1 percent), compared to 12.0 percent of all California adults. Two-thirds of adults reporting diabetes saw a doctor at least four times in the past year (62.8 percent), but only one-third went to the ER in the past year (30.1 percent).

**County prevalence.** The San Diego North Central region had the lowest prevalence of reported diabetes among adults at 3.8 percent, while Tulare County had the highest prevalence at 11.3 percent. In addition to the San Diego North Central region, the California areas with the lowest proportion of adult diabetes included San Luis Obispo County (3.9 percent), Marin County (4.0 percent), Nevada County (4.9 percent), and Santa Clara County (5.3 percent). Areas with the highest proportion of adult diabetes included Los Angeles SPA 7-East (10.2 percent), Kings County (10.4 percent), Fresno County (10.5 percent), Imperial County (11.0 percent), and Tulare County (11.3 percent).

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible to compare the characteristics of adults with diabetes

				AMONG ADULTS WITH DIABETES							
							IN PAST 1	12 MOS	AGES	18-64	
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED	
Mendocino	68,000	5,000	7.5%	56.9%	27.5%*	30.4%	33.4%	60.9%	4,000	-	
Merced	171,000	13,000	7.5%	60.4%	38.3%	51.6%	25.5%	75.7%	6,000	13.5%*	
Monterey	291,000	24,000	8.4%	47.4%	20.1%*	26.3%	35.1%*	61.9%	18,000	33.8%*	
Napa	96,000	9,000	9.2%	28.3%*	29.0%*	41.6%	28.1%*	63.3%	5,000	15.4%*	
Nevada	80,000	4,000	4.9%	13.4%*	15.0%*	32.1%*	24.1%*	68.0%	3,000	-	
Orange	2,256,000	151,000	6.7%	33.6%	13.7%	34.7%	27.3%	68.4%	99,000	16.2%*	
Placer	238,000	13,000	5.5%	45.3%	10.2%*	62.1%	35.1%	53.3%	5,000	-	
Riverside	1,403,000	110,000	7.8%	39.1%	20.3%	35.6%	27.1%	55.9%	71,000	31.3%	
Sacramento	1,003,000	66,000	6.6%	27.6%	21.3%	38.6%	28.9%	63.6%	41,000	13.0%*	
San Benito	41,000	3,000	7.6%	16.5%*	-	57.9%	30.0%*	84.6%	1,000	-	
San Bernardino	1,382,000	127,000	9.2%	35.1%	18.3%	27.5%	29.1%	52.1%	92,000	11.1%	
San Diego	2,198,000	138,000	6.3%	37.0%	19.5%	37.4%	25.2%	60.3%	86,000	30.2%	
1–North Coastal	367,000	21,000	5.9%	42.2%*	9.3%*	32.3%	29.5%*	48.5%	15,000	40.0%*	
2-North Central	442,000	17,000	3.8%	21.4%*	19.2%*	48.6%	27.4%	52.0%	9,000	11.5*	
3-Central	370,000	32,000	8.8%	38.0%	30.5%*	30.4%*	26.1%*	74.0%	23,000	48.5*	
4–South	286,000	24,000	8.3%	47.1%	16.6%*	49.3%	22.9%	52.6%	12,000	24.2*	
5–East	356,000	21,000	5.8%	31.8%	25.0%	39.9%	27.7%	69.9%	12,000	23.0*	
6–North Inland	378,000	23,000	6.1%	36.6%	11.7%*	29.3%	18.4%	57.2%	16,000	15.7*	
San Francisco	674,000	46,000	6.8%	36.1%	20.7%*	40.9%	36.2%	58.6%	27,000	11.2%*	
San Joaquin	443,000	39,000	8.7%	41.9%	17.4%*	39.4%	32.6%	47.6%	23,000	17.6%*	
San Luis Obispo	192,000	8,000	3.9%	23.6%*	-	41.1%	11.7%*	68.6%	4,000	22.9%*	
San Mateo	558,000	42,000	7.6%	15.5%*	21.4%*	32.5%	34.1%	62.2%	28,000	1.9%*	
Santa Barbara	300,000	17,000	5.8%	49.2%	23.8%*	38.2%	19.7%*	67.4%	11,000	13.1%*	
Santa Clara	1,321,000	71,000	5.3%	35.8%	20.9%	33.8%	30.1%	70.1%	47,000	8.0%*	
Santa Cruz	197,000	14,000	7.3%*	57.3%*	42.7%*	15.6%*	48.1%*	82.7%	12,000	19.1%*	
Shasta	136,000	9,000	6.6%	35.4%	25.2%*	26.8%	25.0%	67.6%	7,000	11.7%*	
Solano	298,000	28,000	9.4%	27.5%*	35.9%*	32.5%	49.3%	64.5%	19,000	9.2%*	

to the characteristics of all adults in the same county, however. For example, in LA SPA 4-Metro, 40.2 percent of adults with diabetes who were ages 18 to 64 reported no health insurance (Table 6.1). While this is an extremely high proportion, it is similar to all adults ages 18 to 64 in that SPA who reported no health insurance (41.1 percent, see Table 3.1).

Racial and ethnic characteristics. Among California adults reporting diabetes, the racialethnic distribution was 32.7 percent Latino, 6.7 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, 10.4 percent Asian, 8.4 percent African American, 40.8 percent White, and 1.0 percent other single/ two or more races (see Table 6.2). Latinos had a much higher proportion of adult diabetes in comparison to their total adult population (32.7 percent versus 29.0 percent, see also Table 3.2). Similarly, American Indians/Alaska Natives and African Americans in California were over-represented in the adult population reporting diabetes (6.7 percent versus 4.1 percent, and 8.4 percent versus 5.7 percent, respectively). Programs targeting adults with diabetes need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but adults reporting diabetes were disproportionately Latino in the Sacramento Area counties, the San Joaquin Valley, Central Coast counties, Los Angeles County, and other Southern California counties; disproportionately Asian American in the Northern/Sierra counties; disproportionately

				AMONG ADULTS WITH DIABETES								
							IN PAST 1	12 MOS	AGES	18-64		
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURE		
Sonoma	355,000	25,000	7.1%	36.0%	30.1%	41.1%	30.2%	64.4%	15,000	9.2%*		
Stanislaus	348,000	27,000	7.7%	40.0%	14.3%*	17.2%	18.6%*	71.1%	22,000	10.5%*		
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	10,000	9.0%	44.0%	21.9%	38.5%	32.0%	76.7%	6,000	15.4%*		
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	82,000	8,000	10.0%	59.1%	49.5%	31.0%	35.1%	83.7%	6,000	-		
Tulare	288,000	32,000	11.3%	66.5%	37.6%	29.7%	30.7%	68.4%	23,000	24.2%*		
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	148,000	15,000	10.1%	43.3%	27.0%*	46.4%	50.0%	80.4%	8,000	7.7%*		
Ventura	596,000	57,000	9.5%	39.4%	19.6%*	31.7%	30.8%*	65.6%	39,000	20.0%*		
Yolo	139,000	10,000	7.1%	41.6%	21.4%*	30.9%	25.3%*	50.8%	7,000	10.3%*		

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (--) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Note: Diabetes is defined in the Appendix under "Variables."

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 6.2. Adults Diagnosed with Diabetes, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE/ TWO OR MORE RACES
California	2,099,000	32.7%	6.7%	10.4%	8.4%	40.8%	1.0%
Northern/Sierra Counties	83,000	8.6%	11.0%	4.5%*	1.0%*	74.0%	0.9%*
Bay Area Counties	367,000	16.8%	7.0%*	20.9%	8.1%	45.5%	1.6%*
Sacramento Area Counties	99,000	17.8%	2.4%*	8.3%	11.1%	60.1%	_
San Joaquin Valley Counties	244,000	41.7%	11.7%	5.0%*	3.5%*	37.9%	0.3%
Central Coast Counties	124,000	43.8%	3.5%*	1.5%*	2.8%*	44.8%	3.6%*
Los Angeles County	642,000	42.2%	7.0%	10.6%	13.2%	26.2%	0.8%*
Other Southern California Counties	540,000	32.2%	4.6%	8.7%	6.8%	46.8%	0.9%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Diabetes and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

African American in all California regions except for the San Joaquin Valley; and disproportionately American Indian/Alaska Native in the Northern/ Sierra counties, Bay Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, Los Angeles County, and other Southern California counties.

## **Hypertension**

High blood pressure or hypertension is a major risk factor for heart attack, heart failure, stroke, and kidney disease.<sup>17</sup> Hypertension for adults indicates a systolic blood pressure of 140 mmHg or higher or a diastolic blood pressure of 90 mmHg or higher.<sup>18</sup> Although hospitalizations for hypertension are relatively small compared to hospitalizations for heart disease and strokes, early awareness, treatment, and control of blood pressure among those with hypertension are key to prevention and reduction of morbidity and mortality.

**Statewide characteristics.** In 2007, approximately 7 million California adults ages 18 and over (26.1 percent) reported having ever been diagnosed with hypertension (see Table 7.1 on the following page). One-third of California adults reporting hypertension were low-income (31.8 percent), which is similar to the statewide population of low-income California adults at 30.9 percent. There were twice as many adults ages 65 and over reporting hypertension (33.8 percent) than the total older adult population (14.5 percent). Health care coverage

#### Table 7.1. Adults Diagnosed with High Blood Pressure/Hypertension, 2007

				AMONG ADULTS WITH HYPERTENSION								
							IN PAST ?	12 MOS	AGES	18-64		
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED		
California	26,874,000	7,017,000	26.1%	31.8%	17.5%	33.8%	25.6%	50.8%	4,647,000	17.2%		
Alameda	1,134,000	324,000	28.6%	34.9%	26.5%	30.2%	25.1%	49.1%	226,000	11.1%		
Butte	164,000	46,000	28.3%	32.7%	17.5%	35.9%	19.4%	53.1%	30,000	19.8%		
Contra Costa	775,000	194,000	25.0%	13.3%	10.2%	39.3%	23.3%	44.7%	118,000	5.0%*		
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	35,000	31.2%	44.3%	18.0%	42.4%	28.3%	48.2%	20,000	24.3%		
El Dorado	137,000	42,000	30.8%	21.4%	10.1%*	36.8%	23.0%	50.7%	27,000	14.3%		
Fresno	628,000	179,000	28.4%	39.8%	25.7%	29.5%	21.4%	53.2%	126,000	21.0%		
Humboldt	100,000	23,000	23.0%	31.9%	23.4%	42.5%	26.5%	50.0%	13,000	18.1%		
Imperial	119,000	34,000	28.9%	52.5%	26.2%	32.8%	19.8%	59.9%	23,000	23.0%		
Kern	533,000	145,000	27.3%	41.6%	22.4%	31.0%	28.3%	59.3%	100,000	22.7%		
Kings	92,000	22,000	23.5%	44.8%	22.6%	31.8%	29.5%	63.2%	15,000	29.2%		
Lake	50,000	19,000	37.3%	37.2%	26.3%	40.5%	26.6%	59.6%	11,000	14.1%*		
Los Angeles	7,328,000	1,865,000	25.5%	39.9%	22.7%	34.3%	26.8%	52.3%	1,225,000	20.7%		
SPA 1– Antelope Valley	230,000	65,000	28.4%	38.6%	24.7%	31.3%	33.9%	61.1%	45,000	15.2%*		
SPA 2– San Fernando	1,522,000	380,000	25.0%	30.2%	16.0%	36.0%	29.9%	50.0%	243,000	17.3%		
SPA 3– San Gabriel Valley	1,386,000	354,000	25.6%	34.3%	20.0%	35.5%	23.0%	51.9%	229,000	19.8%		
SPA 4-Metro	880,000	194,000	22.1%	58.7%	33.5%	29.9%	28.0%	54.2%	136,000	38.2%		
SPA 5-West Area	520,000	133,000	25.5%	21.9%	12.6%*	37.2%	14.5%	49.6%	83,000	11.7%*		
SPA 6–South	668,000	194,000	29.0%	70.0%	44.6%	31.3%	38.7%	47.8%	133,000	30.9%		
SPA 7–East Area	948,000	247,000	26.1%	40.6%	18.2%	37.7%	22.6%	48.0%	154,000	18.4%		
SPA 8–South Bay	1,176,000	297,000	25.3%	34.8%	20.6%	32.3%	26.4%	60.1%	201,000	14.1%		
Madera	98,000	28,000	28.3%	34.1%	21.1%	36.4%	29.0%	53.0%	18,000	16.4%		

was slightly better than the statewide average for California adults reporting hypertension. Among adults reporting hypertension, 17.5 percent said they were enrolled in Medi-Cal, a higher proportion than the 12.0 percent for all adults statewide. Seventeen percent of adults with hypertension (ages 18 to 64) reported being uninsured at some point in the past year, compared to 23.8 percent of all California adults (ages 18 to 64). Health care utilization was substantially higher among California adults reporting hypertension compared to all California adults. One in two adults reporting hypertension saw a doctor at least four times in the past year (50.8 percent), but only one-quarter went to the ER in the past year (25.6 percent).

**County prevalence.** The prevalence of hypertension ranged from 19.9 percent in Marin County to 37.3 percent in Lake County. In addition to Marin County, the California areas with the lowest prevalence of hypertension included San Diego North Inland region (23.0 percent), Los Angeles SPA 5-West (25.5 percent), and Monterey County (21.3 percent). The areas with the highest prevalence of hypertension included Stanislaus County (32.6 percent), Sutter/Yuba counties (32.9 percent), the Tuolumne/Calaveras/Amador/ Inyo/Mariposa/Mono/Alpine County cluster (34.2 percent), Mendocino County (37.1 percent), and Lake County (37.3 percent).

				AMONG ADULTS WITH HYPERTENSION						
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
Marin	189,000	38,000	19.9%	11.4%	6.5%	48.0%	22.2%	43.9%	20,000	6.7%*
Mendocino	68,000	25,000	37.1%	37.2%	11.8%	32.8%	19.8%	37.8%	17,000	28.7%*
Merced	171,000	39,000	22.7%	41.1%	24.2%	29.6%	28.2%	62.5%	27,000	26.2%
Monterey	291,000	76,000	26.1%	31.1%	16.4%	30.0%	30.7%	42.8%	53,000	20.0%*
Napa	96,000	28,000	29.0%	16.0%	10.1%*	35.9%	26.4%	55.2%	18,000	10.7%*
Nevada	80,000	21,000	26.8%	18.7%	7.3%	45.8%	28.7%	53.6%	12,000	14.0%
Orange	2,256,000	489,000	21.7%	24.8%	12.6%	38.8%	19.2%	58.2%	299,000	12.1%
Placer	238,000	56,000	23.5%	15.3%	6.8%*	45.1%	18.1%	47.4%	31,000	2.0%*
Riverside	1,403,000	380,000	27.1%	32.2%	12.7%	33.9%	24.9%	50.5%	251,000	18.1%
Sacramento	1,003,000	307,000	30.7%	31.5%	20.8%	30.5%	25.5%	47.5%	214,000	8.0%
San Benito	41,000	9,000	22.1%	19.1%	11.7%*	43.4%	22.7%	59.1%	5,000	11.1%*
San Bernardino	1,382,000	386,000	27.9%	36.9%	17.2%	26.8%	31.8%	45.1%	282,000	19.4%
San Diego	2,198,000	571,000	26.0%	24.6%	11.3%	32.3%	26.3%	46.5%	387,000	20.6%
1–North Coastal	367,000	86,000	23.6%	21.8%	9.2%	38.1%	26.3%	51.9%	54,000	16.6%*
2–North Central	442,000	109,000	24.6%	15.0%	6.6%*	28.7%	25.5%	42.4%	77,000	19.2%*
3-Central	370,000	104,000	28.0%	37.1%	16.8%	26.5%	25.5%	41.5%	76,000	35.2%*
4–South	286,000	81,000	28.2%	28.8%	13.3%	36.6%	26.0%	49.8%	51,000	16.7%*
5–East	356,000	105,000	29.5%	22.7%	11.7%	31.6%	27.1%	47.9%	72,000	16.9%
6–North Inland	378,000	87,000	23.0%	22.6%	10.5%*	35.0%	27.6%	47.6%	57,000	14.8%*
San Francisco	674,000	154,000	22.8%	25.8%	16.5%	39.8%	23.4%	46.7%	93,000	4.2%*
San Joaquin	443,000	125,000	28.3%	26.3%	10.9%	34.7%	20.9%	45.0%	82,000	16.0%
San Luis Obispo	192,000	46,000	23.7%	14.3%	6.0%*	43.5%	21.3%	49.7%	26,000	20.5%
San Mateo	558,000	148,000	26.5%	22.1%	8.9%	35.2%	22.4%	50.1%	96,000	15.2%*
Santa Barbara	300,000	67,000	22.4%	33.1%	15.6%	43.5%	21.3%	52.0%	38,000	15.5%*
Santa Clara	1,321,000	333,000	25.2%	23.5%	12.9%	32.4%	26.4%	46.6%	225,000	12.6%
Santa Cruz	197,000	48,000	24.4%	28.1%	21.0%*	26.7%	33.2%	53.6%	35,000	9.8%*
Shasta	136,000	43,000	32.0%	29.3%	15.2%	40.1%	25.2%	54.4%	26,000	19.6%

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible to compare the characteristics of adults with hypertension to the characteristics of all adults in the same county, however. For example, in Sacramento County, 20.8 percent of adults with hypertension reported having Medi-Cal coverage (Table 7.1), a proportion higher than that for all Sacramento County adults (12.9 percent, see Table 3.1).

Racial and ethnic characteristics. Among California adults reporting hypertension, the racial-ethnic distribution was 22.1 percent Latino, 4.9 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, 11.7 percent Asian, 8.3 percent African American, 51.8 percent White, and 1.3 percent other single/ two or more races (Table 7.2). Compared to their total adult population in California, African Americans had a higher proportion of adults reporting having been diagnosed with hypertension (5.7 percent versus 8.3 percent, see also Table 3.2). Similarly, Whites were over-represented in the adult population reporting hypertension (47.5 percent versus 51.8 percent). Programs targeting adults with hypertension need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but adults reporting hypertension were disproportionately Asian

				AMONG ADULTS WITH HYPERTENSION						
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
Solano	298,000	89,000	29.9%	18.8%	17.8%	28.1%	36.7%	56.9%	64,000	12.2%*
Sonoma	355,000	84,000	23.8%	21.3%	13.2%*	40.2%	26.0%	55.9%	50,000	13.7%*
Stanislaus	348,000	113,000	32.6%	40.0%	13.4%	27.0%	28.9%	49.4%	83,000	24.6%
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	37,000	32.9%	40.4%	24.7%	31.5%	35.0%	61.0%	25,000	19.8%
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	82,000	25,000	31.2%	46.2%	23.6%	31.7%	34.4%	60.6%	17,000	14.2%*
Tulare	288,000	79,000	27.3%	44.4%	21.4%	26.5%	18.6%	57.1%	58,000	30.9%
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	148,000	51,000	34.2%	24.2%	13.2%	44.2%	30.2%	51.7%	28,000	9.9%*
Ventura	596,000	161,000	27.0%	21.5%	14.4%*	30.1%	21.3%	51.0%	113,000	19.6%*
Yolo	139,000	31,000	22.1%	20.0%	10.1%	32.2%	16.9%	44.1%	21,000	33.6%

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Note: Hypertension is defined in the Appendix under "Variables."

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 7.2. Adults Diagnosed with High Blood Pressure/Hypertension, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE/ TWO OR MORE RACES
California	7,017,000	22.1%	4.9%	11.7%	8.3%	51.8%	1.3%
Northern/Sierra Counties	326,000	6.6%	7.7%	2.6%	0.7%	81.4%	1.0%*
Bay Area Counties	1,392,000	12.8%	4.8%	21.1%	8.3%	50.9%	2.1%
Sacramento Area Counties	436,000	10.0%	4.3%	10.8%	8.5%	65.0%	1.6%*
San Joaquin Valley Counties	730,000	27.0%	7.1%	4.2%	5.6%	55.6%	0.6%*
Central Coast Counties	407,000	23.0%	5.8%*	6.1%	1.5%*	62.4%	1.7%*
Los Angeles County	1,865,000	32.0%	4.5%	12.9%	14.4%	35.7%	1.0%
Other Southern California Counties	1,860,000	23.0%	4.1%	9.4%	5.9%	56.5%	1.0%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate

Notes: Hypertension and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

American in the Northern/Sierra Area counties, Sacramento Area counties, and Central Coast counties, disproportionately African American in the Bay Area counties, the Sacramento Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, Los Angeles County, and other Southern California counties, and disproportionately American Indian/Alaska Native in all California regions except for the Sacramento Area counties.

## **Psychological Distress**

Mental health is an essential component of overall health and well-being. About six percent of adults in the United States have a serious mental illness.<sup>19</sup> Psychological distress is a mental health problem that can "cause moderate to serious impairment in social, occupational, or school functioning and... require(s) treatment."<sup>20</sup> Psychological distress is associated with co-occurring chronic health conditions, disability, and premature death.<sup>21,22</sup> If left untreated, adults experiencing psychological distress are at-risk for preventable hospitalizations.

**Statewide characteristics.** In 2007, about 1 million California adults ages 18 and over (3.8 percent) reported experiencing psychological distress in the past month (see Table 8.1 on the next page). Nine percent of those reporting psychological distress were ages 65 and over, which was smaller than the total older adult population in California (14.5 percent). Compared to the total California adult population who were low-income at 30.9 percent, more than half of California

#### Table 8.1. Adults with Likely Psychological Distress in the Past Month, 2007

				AMONG ADULTS WITH LIKELY PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS						
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
California	26,769,000	1,007,000	3.8%	55.5%	33.6%	8.7%	40.1%	55.6%	920,000	30.8%
Alameda	1,129,000	26,000	2.3%	34.2%*	17.0%*	2.9%*	47.7%	60.2%	26,000	14.1%*
Butte	161,000	5,000	3.0%*	83.7%	76.9%	-	38.3%*	80.5%	4,000	16.7%*
Contra Costa	771,000	20,000	2.6%*	20.0%*	67.2%*	2.8%*	67.1%*	88.9%	20,000	11.9%*
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	113,000	6,000	5.6%	71.6%	55.0%	-	61.2%	86.4%	6,000	28.9%*
El Dorado	137,000	5,000	3.5%	30.6%*	16.3%*	17.7%*	28.3%*	55.4%	4,000	43.2%*
Fresno	625,000	27,000	4.3%*	37.5%*	33.4%*	11.8%*	28.7%*	43.4%*	24,000	49.7%*
Humboldt	99,000	5,000	5.5%*	80.3%	77.1%	-	78.4%	84.3%	5,000	12.2%*
Imperial	118,000	4,000	3.4%*	72.0%	70.8%	31.5%*	29.0%*	54.3%	3,000	32.4%*
Kern	531,000	20,000	3.8%	73.7%	58.0%	13.3%*	44.8%	61.2%	17,000	33.3%*
Kings	92,000	5,000	5.3%	62.9%	40.2%	_	45.5%	46.9%	5,000	19.3%*
Lake	50,000	3,000	6.2%	71.9%	51.2%	_	39.4%	68.2%	3,000	28.2%*
Los Angeles	7,303,000	278,000	3.8%	63.0%	33.5%	8.1%	30.6%	53.1%	255,000	38.2%
SPA 1– Antelope Valley	228,000	11,000	4.8%	56.2%	49.1%	-	31.6%	78.2%	11,000	29.9%*
SPA 2– San Fernando	1,515,000	45,000	2.9%	34.5%	19.3%	6.1%*	30.7%	58.7%	42,000	28.4%
SPA 3– San Gabriel Valley	1,383,000	49,000	3.5%	49.6%	26.9%*	13.0%*	31.9%	71.4%	42,000	31.6%*
SPA 4-Metro	879,000	41,000	4.6%	75.7%	42.0%	6.9%	31.9%	42.6%	38,000	40.6%
SPA 5–West Area	520,000	6,000	1.1%*	43.8%*	17.0%*	28.8%*	_	32.6%*	4,000	_
SPA 6–South	665,000	47,000	7.0%	84.9%	40.7%*	6.7%*	22.7%*	40.6%*	44,000	51.3%
SPA 7–East Area	943,000	47,000	5.0%	66.4%	37.1%	5.6%*	34.3%	40.7%	44,000	46.1%
SPA 8–South Bay	1,170,000	34,000	2.9%	74.5%	34.4%*	8.5%*	36.0%*	61.9%	31,000	34.6%*
Madera	97,000	5,000	5.2%	44.4%	24.6%*	-	41.2%	52.0%	5,000	35.5%*
Marin	189.000	5.000	2.5%*	25.3%*	12.4%*	_	26.5%*	57.6%*	4.000	12.1%*

adults reporting psychological distress were lowincome (55.5 percent). Among adults (ages 18 to 64) reporting psychological distress, 30.8 percent reported being uninsured in the past year, which was higher than the 23.8 percent for this age group statewide. Thirty-four percent of adults with psychological distress had Medi-Cal coverage, compared to 12.0 percent of all California adults. Health care utilization was much higher for adults reporting psychological distress compared to all adults. Fifty-six percent of adults reporting psychological distress saw a doctor at least four times in the past year (compared to 33.1 percent of all California adults) and 40.1 percent went to the ER in the past year (compared to 18.8 percent of all California adults).

**County prevalence.** Sonoma County had the lowest prevalence of psychological distress at 1.0 percent while the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster had the highest prevalence at 8.7 percent. In addition to Sonoma County, the California areas with the lowest prevalence of psychological distress included Los Angeles SPA 5-West (1.1 percent), Placer County (1.7 percent), and San Diego North Central region (1.8 percent). The areas with the highest prevalence of psychological distress included Lake County (6.2 percent), Los Angeles SPA 6-South (7.0 percent), Sutter/Yuba counties (7.6 percent), and the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster (8.7 percent).

				AMON	NG ADULT	rs with	I LIKELY PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS			
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	5 18-64
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED
Mendocino	68,000	2,000	3.4%	79.2%	54.5%	-	76.4%	76.0%	2,000	-
Merced	171,000	6,000	3.8%	71.5%	60.4%	-	34.2%	75.4%	6,000	21.6%*
Monterey	291,000	10,000	3.3%	68.3%	42.7%*	6.1%*	25.7%*	42.4%*	9,000	35.0%*
Napa	96,000	2,000	2.3%	53.3%	55.8%	-	29.6%*	61.6%	2,000	-
Nevada	79,000	2,000	3.1%	39.7%*	34.9%*	-	46.9%	76.6%	2,000	40.0%*
Orange	2,247,000	88,000	3.9%	49.6%	25.2%	7.8%*	49.4%	45.9%	81,000	46.7%
Placer	236,000	4,000	1.7%*	59.0%*	22.6%*	-	20.0%*	58.1%*	4,000	-
Riverside	1,398,000	64,000	4.6%	53.7%	23.5%*	6.3%*	21.0%*	66.1%	60,000	26.1%*
Sacramento	1,001,000	56,000	5.6%	64.8%	47.3%	11.8%*	53.2%	80.3%	50,000	15.6%*
San Benito	40,000	1,000	2.3%*	-	-	-	56.6%*	_	1,000	-
San Bernardino	1,379,000	55,000	4.0%	50.9%	27.2%	8.8%*	53.0%	67.9%	50,000	13.1%*
San Diego	2,188,000	73,000	3.3%	53.8%	29.5%*	7.9%	35.5%	58.2%	67,000	27.0%
1–North Coastal	365,000	13,000	3.6%*	42.1%*	8.2%*	-	52.1%	48.3%*	13,000	53.3%*
2-North Central	442,000	8,000	1.8%*	18.1%*	-	9.6%*	29.7%*	38.5%*	7,000	_
3-Central	365,000	16,000	4.4%	78.2%	31.8%*	-	50.7%	57.0%	16,000	15.6%*
4-South	285,000	10,000	3.5%*	34.9%	22.4%	23.8%*	23.4%	54.7%	8,000	52.4%
5–East	354,000	17,000	4.7%*	80.0%	68.6%	11.5%*	21.2%*	83.8%	15,000	15.7%*
6–North Inland	378,000	9,000	2.4%	31.1%	13.0%*	-	29.4%*	48.6%	9,000	23.8%*
San Francisco	673,000	20,000	3.0%*	40.2%*	31.3%*	20.2%*	78.0%	74.6%	16,000	7.6%*
San Joaquin	441,000	12,000	2.6%*	63.7%	21.3%*	48.4%*	78.3%	45.9%*	6,000	21.4%*
San Luis Obispo	192,000	6,000	3.1%*	66.4%	14.6%*	13.2%*	49.5%*	45.9%*	5,000	39.3%*
San Mateo	554,000	21,000	3.8%*	3.5%*	-	2.7%*	3.7%*	36.9%*	21,000	8.8%*
Santa Barbara	300,000	15,000	5.2%	82.4%	58.5%	3.5%*	39.6%*	47.9%	15,000	27.3%*
Santa Clara	1,317,000	39,000	2.9%	55.9%	19.4%*	3.9%*	50.3%	63.9%	37,000	39.7%*
Santa Cruz	197,000	5,000	2.6%*	82.3%	34.4%*	_	44.4%*	64.5%	5,000	37.6%*
Shasta	136,000	5,000	3.3%	37.0%	18.4%*	_	54.2%	46.5%	4,000	35.2%*
Solano	297,000	16,000	5.5%*	39.1%*	74.8%	-	48.5%*	85.2%	16,000	5.8%*

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible to compare the characteristics of adults with psychological distress to the characteristics of all adults in the same county, however. For example, in Alameda County, 47.7 percent of adults with psychological distress used the ER in the past year (Table 8.1), which is over twice as often as all Alameda County adults report ER use (20.6 percent, Table 3.1). Note that due to the relatively low number of adults with psychological distress in many counties, the estimates of many of their characteristics are not statistically stable (indicated by an asterisk) and should be considered "ballpark" estimates.

Racial and ethnic characteristics. Among California adults reporting psychological distress, the racial-ethnic distribution was 34.6 percent Latino, 8.5 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, 9.1 percent Asian, 8.4 percent African American, 38.5 percent White, and 0.9 percent other single/two or more races (see Table 8.2). Latinos had a much higher proportion of adult psychological distress in comparison to their total adult population (34.6 percent versus 29.0 percent, see also Table 3.2). Similarly, American Indians/ Alaska Natives and African Americans in California were over-represented in the adult population

				AMONG ADULTS WITH LIKELY PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS								
							IN PAST	12 MOS	AGES	18-64		
	TOTAL ADULT POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	AGE 65+	ER VISIT	4+ MD VISITS	TOTAL NUMBER	UNINSURED		
Sonoma	353,000	4,000	1.0%*	29.6%*	-	-	29.7%*	86.3%	3,000	36.2%*		
Stanislaus	345,000	14,000	4.2%	71.2%	46.4%	21.8%*	35.4%	67.8%	11,000	44.6%*		
Sutter, Yuba	112,000	9,000	7.6%	75.7%	65.7%	-	57.8%	61.6%	8,000	28.8%*		
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	80,000	7,000	8.7%	60.8%	63.6%	-	44.9%	77.4%	7,000	23.3%*		
Tulare	286,000	15,000	5.2%	40.3%	30.4%*	8.6%*	31.5%*	61.3%	14,000	33.1%*		
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	146,000	6,000	4.4%	46.4%	43.3%*	11.2%*	46.6%	69.1%	6,000	43.8%*		
Ventura	596,000	31,000	5.2%*	69.4%	19.3%*	8.4%*	50.6%*	87.5%	28,000	47.5%*		
Yolo	139,000	3,000	2.4%*	31.2%*	36.6%*	25.2%*	30.1%*	71.7%	2,000	_		

\*Indicates an unstable estimate. Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Psychological distress is defined in the Appendix under "Variables." The data are unadjusted to the California population. Total population is 97,000 less than other variables because psychological distress was not asked of those unable to personally respond to the survey due to illness even though other more objective questions were asked of a proxy (knowledgeable adult) in those cases.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 8.2. Adults with Likely Psychological Distress in the Past Month, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE TWO OF MORE RACES
California	1,007,000	34.6%	8.5%	9.1%	8.4%	38.5%	0.9%
Northern/Sierra Counties	51,000	7.5%*	15.0%	2.4%*	_	74.9%	-
Bay Area Counties	153,000	27.1%	11.3%*	20.6%*	8.1%*	31.4%	1.5%*
Sacramento Area Counties	68,000	10.2%*	8.5%*	5.3%*	20.3%*	55.5%	-
San Joaquin Valley Counties	104,000	44.8%	10.2%*	3.0%*	4.2%*	37.6%	-
Central Coast Counties	68,000	44.3%	10.7%*	9.2%*	2.3%*	30.5%	3.1%*
Los Angeles County	278,000	44.7%	6.7%*	8.6%*	10.8%	28.6%	0.7%*
Other Southern California Counties	284,000	33.4%	6.7%	7.8%	7.8%*	43.8%	0.6%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate. Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Psychological distress and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." The data are unadjusted to the California population. Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

reporting psychological distress (8.5 percent versus 4.1 percent, and 8.4 percent versus 5.7 percent, respectively). Programs targeting adults with psychological distress need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but adults reporting psychological distress were disproportionately Latino in Bay Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, Central Coast counties, Los Angeles County, and the other Southern California counties, disproportionately Asian American in the Central Coast counties, disproportionately American Indian/Alaska Native in all California regions, and disproportionately African American in all California regions except for the Northern/Sierra counties.

# **III. Child Chronic Conditions Prevalence and Characteristics**

THE PERCENTAGE OF CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS WITH A chronic illness in the United States jumped from 1.8 percent in the 1960s to more than 7 percent in 2004.<sup>23</sup> With the growing impact of chronic conditions upon children, this chapter highlights the prevalence of active asthma, and as a measure of overall health, the prevalence of fair-to-poor health status among children under the age of 18. The prevalence rate is comparable between counties (or by county cluster and sub-county areas). Additional details on the characteristics of children living with each specific chronic condition are provided, including demographic characteristics (e.g., low-income), health care coverage (e.g., uninsured or enrolled in Medi-Cal), and frequent health

#### Table 9.1. Total Child Population Ages 0 to 17, by Demographic, 2007

					IN PAST	12 MONTHS
	TOTAL CHILDREN	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS <sup>†</sup>
California	9,912,000	40.6%	25.8%	9.4%	18.6%	39.0%
Alameda	363,000	25.7%	16.9%	3.8%	20.4%	40.6%
Butte	47,000	40.9%	22.9%	5.4%*	25.2%	43.1%
Contra Costa	255,000	23.7%	9.9%	6.2%*	19.0%	37.9%
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	32,000	48.1%	28.9%	8.6%*	36.2%	51.3%
El Dorado	40,000	22.5%	9.7%	9.2%	16.0%	38.8%
Fresno	270,000	48.4%	40.8%	9.2%	18.8%	38.3%
Humboldt	28,000	45.5%	29.0%	16.1%	17.1%	33.5%
Imperial	47,000	70.2%	44.3%	17.4%	28.4%	52.0%
Kern	243,000	52.3%	40.1%	9.0%*	17.8%	39.1%
Kings	43,000	60.5%	37.2%	13.6%	29.9%	36.7%
Lake	13,000	48.3%	26.5%	11.6%*	25.2%	39.1%

care utilization (e.g., average doctor visits or ER visit in the past year). Since these additional details focus only on children reporting a chronic condition by county (or by county cluster and sub-county areas), these numbers should not be compared between counties and should only be examined within the county-context. Additionally, demographic characteristics and frequent health care utilization data for the total child and adolescent population are presented (with and without chronic conditions). These total population data are useful in that they can be used to compare demographic characteristics and health care utilization within the county-context for child chronic conditions data (see Tables 9.1 and 9.2).

		IN PAST 12 M							
	TOTAL CHILDREN	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS <sup>†</sup>			
Los Angeles		49.0%	32.3%	10.1%	16.8%	39.6%			
SPA 1-Antelope Valley	95,000	46.3%	33.7%	10.4%	22.6%	39.8%			
SPA 2–San Fernando	582,000	35.1%	23.3%	9.3%	18.6%	38.6%			
SPA 3–San Gabriel Valley	459,000	43.3%	27.7%	11.4%	15.8%	37.3%			
SPA 4–Metro	329,000	64.3%	45.4%	8.2%	19.5%	42.6%			
SPA 5–West Area	129,000	31.9%	16.9%	16.5%	21.7%	39.9%			
SPA 6–South	351,000	82.5%	57.6%	7.7%*	13.4%	34.7%			
SPA 7–East Area	432,000	49.8%	32.7%	9.6%	13.1%	46.2%			
SPA 8–South Bay	440,000	40.0%	23.0%	11.8%	17.4%	38.4%			
Madera	42,000	65.8%	43.2%	10.0%	20.2%	49.2%			
Marin	54,000	23.3%	10.4%*	5.3%*	20.0%	39.7%			
Mendocino	20,000	54.8%	27.9%	8.7%*	17.3%	38.6%			
Merced	78,000	64.8%	40.0%	9.6%	17.1%	41.4%			

			IN PAST 12 MONTH						
	TOTAL CHILDREN	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS <sup>†</sup>			
Monterey	120,000	61.3%	37.1%	9.5%*	14.9%	38.3%			
Napa	33,000	29.3%	12.6%	9.9%*	21.0%	27.8%			
Nevada	19,000	26.5%	7.5%*	16.7%	28.5%	39.1%			
Orange	792,000	36.1%	23.7%	8.2%	17.4%	41.3%			
Placer	82,000	13.4%	2.8%*	9.2%	13.5%	34.0%			
Riverside	582,000	39.8%	22.3%	14.6%	23.9%	40.4%			
Sacramento	377,000	34.4%	20.3%	6.3%	19.2%	30.3%			
San Benito	17,000	41.5%	16.6%	7.5%	18.9%	39.0%			
San Bernardino	595,000	48.2%	28.4%	12.1%	22.4%	34.7%			
San Diego	801,000	31.9%	17.4%	8.8%	17.5%	39.5%			
1–North Coastal	130,000	29.3%	10.8%	13.2%	15.2%	42.9%			
2-North Central	133,000	20.8%	13.5%	3.1%*	20.2%	40.6%			
3-Central	130,000	55.8%	31.1%	11.7%	22.4%	40.2%			
4–South	120,000	32.2%	22.6%	8.8%	13.5%	35.5%			
5-East	124,000	37.7%	17.3%	10.3%	16.6%	43.0%			
6–North Inland	163,000	19.2%	11.2%	6.3%	16.9%	35.8%			
San Francisco	115,000	26.9%	14.2%	6.7%*	16.7%	41.9%			
San Joaquin	220,000	44.2%	31.2%	10.6%	14.2%	34.5%			
San Luis Obispo	53,000	27.5%	15.1%	6.8%*	15.4%	43.6%			

					IN PAST	12 MONTHS
	TOTAL CHILDREN	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS <sup>†</sup>
San Mateo	164,000	15.9%	11.1%	2.3%*	16.6%	36.5%
Santa Barbara	105,000	39.9%	29.5%	9.3%*	13.4%	39.0%
Santa Clara	454,000	25.2%	15.5%	6.9%	19.0%	41.5%
Santa Cruz	58,000	29.0%	33.0%	3.4%*	20.7%	38.6%
Shasta	42,000	53.2%	26.3%	23.7%	19.7%	31.7%
Solano	108,000	33.9%	21.3%	8.0%*	20.8%	42.8%
Sonoma	115,000	30.3%	19.3%	11.5%*	16.0%	37.0%
Stanislaus	164,000	42.5%	24.8%	12.1%	15.5%	37.6%
Sutter, Yuba	49,000	48.1%	30.8%	7.6%	20.4%	44.0%
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	29,000	59.5%	43.5%	10.1%*	20.8%	44.5%
Tulare	133,000	55.5%	42.3%	9.1%	18.0%	38.0%
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	34,000	34.5%	18.0%*	22.2%*	18.8%	37.4%
Ventura	214,000	31.4%	17.8%	9.9%	18.2%	38.3%
Yolo	46,000	30.5%	13.7%	5.6%*	19.4%	44.9%

#### \*Indicates an unstable estimate.

tFor children ages 2 to 17, calculations reflect an average of three or more doctor visits; for children ages 0 to 1, calculations reflect an average of four or more doctor visits.

Dash (--) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Total population characteristics. In 2007,

there were an estimated 9.9 million children under the age of 18 living in California (see Table 9.1). Among California children, 40.6 percent were from low-income families. Nine percent of children reported being uninsured at some point in the past year and twenty-six percent of children reported having Medi-Cal coverage. Thirtynine percent of children saw a doctor at least three times in the past year, and 18.6 percent went to the ER in the past year. The diversity of children living in California is reflected in the racial and ethnic makeup of the state. Across California, the child and adolescent population was 44.5 percent Latino, 5.2 percent American Indian/Alaska Natives, 9.6 percent Asian, 5.9 percent African American, 31.4 percent White, and 3.4 percent other single /two or more races (Table 9.2).

## **Active Asthma**

Asthma is the leading chronic condition for children under the age of 18. In 2007, the lifetime asthma prevalence for California children was 15.4 percent.<sup>24</sup> Since children have smaller airways than adults, asthma can cause serious health problems. Some children who have been diagnosed with asthma may experience little-to-no symptoms while others may experience more frequent symptoms. For children under the age of 15, asthma is the third leading cause of hospitalization and a common cause for missing school.<sup>25</sup> By identifying children with current or active asthma

#### Table 9.2. Total Child Population Ages 0 to 17, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL CHILD POPULATION	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE/ TWO OR MORE RACES
California	9,912,000	44.5%	5.2%	9.6%	5.9%	31.4%	3.4%
Northern/Sierra Counties	312,000	18.9%	8.8%	3.0%	1.2%*	66.3%	1.8%
Bay Area Counties	1,663,000	29.7%	3.5%	20.2%	6.1%	34.5%	6.0%
Sacramento Area Counties	545,000	23.7%	4.5%	11.1%	7.3%	48.6%	4.8%
San Joaquin Valley Counties	1,192,000	51.6%	7.0%	5.0%	5.4%	29.5%	1.5%
Central Coast Counties	567,000	50.8%	4.6%	3.3%	0.9%*	36.6%	3.8%
Los Angeles County	2,815,000	57.1%	5.7%	8.9%	7.8%	18.0%	2.7%
Other Southern California Counties	2,817,000	43.5%	4.8%	7.6%	5.5%	35.4%	3.3%

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Notes: Race/Ethnicity is defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

symptoms in the past year, a better understanding of demographic characteristics, frequent health care utilization, and barriers to care among children living with active asthma can be gained.

Statewide characteristics. In 2007, an estimated 979,000 California children ages 1 to 17 (10.4 percent) had active asthma in the past year (see Table 10.1). Almost 44.5 percent of children reporting active asthma were from low-income families, which is similar to the statewide percentage of California children from low-income families (40.6 percent). Health care coverage was similar to the statewide average for California children reporting active asthma. Among children reporting active asthma, 29.7 percent reported having Medi-Cal coverage, compared to 25.8 percent of all California children. Nine percent of children with active asthma reported being uninsured at some point in the past year, which is the same as the percentage of all children statewide. Health care utilization was substantially higher among children reporting active asthma compared to all children in California. Fifty-six percent of children reporting active asthma saw a doctor at least three times in the past year, and 33.2 percent went to the ER.

**County prevalence.** The San Diego North Inland region had the lowest prevalence of child active asthma at 4.7 percent, while the Del Norte/Siskiyou/Lassen/Trinity/Modoc/Plumas/ Sierra County cluster had the highest prevalence at 15.9 percent. In addition to the San Diego

#### Table 10.1. Children Ages 1 to 17 with Active Asthma, 2007

			EN WITH ACTIVE ASTHMA						
							IN PAST 12 MONTHS		
	TOTAL CHILDREN	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS	
California	9,392,000	979,000	10.4%	44.5%	29.7%	9.1%	33.2%	55.6%	
Alameda	342,000	49,000	14.4%	39.1%	31.1%*	1.4%*	34.2%	41.4%	
Butte	45,000	3,000	6.8%*	34.0%*	43.0%*	17.7%*	-	63.5%	
Contra Costa	242,000	37,000	15.2%	48.7%	25.3%*	7.4%*	39.6%*	56.9%	
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	30,000	5,000	15.9%*	48.6%*	45.9%*	_	45.5%*	47.6%*	
El Dorado	38,000	3,000	8.2%	_	_	_	28.2%*	36.0%*	
Fresno	250,000	33,000	13.1%	52.3%	50.8%	11.7%*	30.7%*	75.8%	
Humboldt	26,000	2,000	7.5%	42.1%*	33.7%*	_	41.3%*	67.6%	
Imperial	44,000	4,000	10.2%	71.2%	39.1%	18.1%*	40.3%	80.9%	
Kern	230,000	34,000	14.8%	40.3%	18.2%*	5.7%*	32.7%*	61.9%	
Kings	41,000	6,000	15.7%	43.8%	24.2%*	15.0%*	32.5%*	66.5%	
Lake	12,000	1,000	11.9%	73.8%	50.4%	_	41.3%*	53.2%	
Los Angeles	2,664,000	289,000	10.9%	53.0%	33.9%	10.7%	33.5%	54.8%	
SPA 1-Antelope Valley	90,000	11,000	11.8%	55.1%	38.7%*	_	43.2%*	75.8%	
SPA 2–San Fernando	550,000	47,000	8.6%	50.7%	23.2%*	10.7%*	50.8%	62.3%	
SPA 3-San Gabriel Valley	433,000	58,000	13.3%	45.6%	14.4%*	23.2%*	38.9%	43.9%	
SPA 4-Metro	317,000	30,000	9.4%	61.2%	53.0%	5.9%*	35.1%*	48.7%	
SPA 5–West Area	125,000	17,000	13.9%*	34.3%*	_	9.4%*	-	31.2%*	
SPA 6-South	329,000	40,000	12.3%	76.9%	75.9%	6.4%*	44.5%	57.1%	
SPA 7–East Area	408,000	35,000	8.6%	57.6%	45.7%	2.3%*	18.1%*	71.5%	
SPA 8–South Bay	412,000	51,000	12.4%	42.6%	23.9%*	11.1%*	20.6%*	54.3%	
Madera	38,000	4,000	9.6%	51.6%	42.0%*	_	53.2%	44.4%*	
Marin	51,000	3,000	5.8%*	_	_	_	_	75.9%	
Mendocino	20,000	2,000	8.1%*	52.7%*	_	_	-	42.1%*	
Merced	76,000	11,000	14.2%	85.4%	50.9%	7.3%*	45.3%*	66.4%	

				AMONG CHILDREN WITH ACTIVE ASTHM					
							IN PAST 12 MONTHS		
	TOTAL CHILDREN	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS	
Monterey	117,000	9,000	7.9%*	58.6%*	44.3%*	24.7%*	47.2%*	71.9%	
Napa	32,000	5,000	14.4%	33.6%*	33.6%*	19.5%*	29.1%*	33.6%*	
Nevada	18,000	3,000	13.9%*	-	-	_	58.1%	73.7%	
Orange	757,000	69,000	9.2%	29.3%	30.4%	5.6%*	34.5%	57.3%	
Placer	81,000	13,000	15.5%	20.4%*	-	6.5%*	12.2%*	53.2%	
Riverside	547,000	27,000	4.9%	19.5%*	9.7%*	1.9%	39.2%	59.1%	
Sacramento	350,000	31,000	8.8%	45.3%	31.0%*	2.5%*	18.5%*	46.6%	
San Benito	16,000	1,000	4.9%*	-	-	-	-	64.3%	
San Bernardino	571,000	62,000	10.8%	51.5%	36.2%	7.6%*	54.9%	60.3%	
San Diego	759,000	66,000	8.8%	35.2%	16.4%	11.9%*	30.1%	55.8%	
1–North Coastal	123,000	11,000	9.3%	45.1%*	25.3%*	20.7%*	43.0%*	50.7%*	
2-North Central	117,000	9,000	7.4%	20.3%*	7.2%*	_	32.9%*	70.2%	
3-Central	125,000	14,000	11.3%*	41.8%*	9.3%*	19.7%*	20.7%*	44.1%*	
4–South	114,000	11,000	9.6%	40.7%*	30.7%*	_	35.5%*	51.8%	
5–East	120,000	14,000	11.5%	34.0%*	11.3%*	19.9%*	30.9%*	73.4%	
6–North Inland	159,000	8,000	4.7%	18.6%*	15.3%*	_	16.2%*	43.0%*	
San Francisco	108,000	11,000	10.5%*	32.5%*	15.3%*	-	-	13.4%*	
San Joaquin	204,000	31,000	15.1%	54.3%	43.5%*	11.8%*	23.7%*	43.1%*	
San Luis Obispo	51,000	5,000	9.3%*	54.2%*	-	_	16.8%*	46.0%*	
San Mateo	153,000	22,000	14.3%	8.8%*	7.8%*	-	12.3%*	32.0%*	
Santa Barbara	102,000	10,000	10.2%*	26.1%*	32.0%*	-	15.1%*	16.4%*	
Santa Clara	432,000	37,000	8.5%	45.8%	24.1%*	22.4%*	20.7%*	75.3%	
Santa Cruz	56,000	6,000	10.0%*	34.5%*	43.1%*	-	28.8%*	77.4%	
Shasta	40,000	4,000	9.6%*	70.1%	14.4%*	39.9%*	74.7%	62.9%*	
Solano	104,000	9,000	8.8%*	13.0%*	14.5%*	21.1%*	44.7%*	53.0%*	
Sonoma	110,000	9,000	8.3%*	30.7%*	15.0%*	8.9%*	20.9%*	24.6%*	

North Inland region, the California areas with the lowest prevalence of active asthma included San Benito County (4.9 percent), Riverside County (4.9 percent), Marin County (5.8 percent), and Butte County (6.8 percent). The areas with the highest prevalence of active asthma included San Joaquin County (15.1 percent), Contra Costa County (15.2 percent), Placer County (15.5 percent), Kings County (15.7 percent), and the Del Norte/Siskiyou/Lassen/Trinity/Modoc/ Plumas/Sierra County cluster (15.9 percent).

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible to compare the characteristics of children with active asthma to the characteristics of all children in the same county, however. For example, in San Joaquin County, 54.3 percent of children with active asthma lived in families with low-incomes (Table 10.1), which was even higher than the rate for all San Joaquin County children (44.2 percent) (Table 9.1). Note that due to the relatively low number of children reporting active asthma in many counties, the estimates of many of their characteristics are not statistically stable (indicated by an asterisk) and should be considered "ballpark" estimates.

**Racial and ethnic characteristics.** Among California children reporting active asthma,

				AMONG CHILDREN WITH ACTIVE ASTHMA					
							IN PAST 12	MONTHS	
	TOTAL CHILDREN	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW- INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS	
Stanislaus	154,000	16,000	10.3%	67.0%	49.9%*	-	35.7%*	76.1%	
Sutter, Yuba	47,000	6,000	13.4%	70.7%	60.2%	_	32.9%*	65.7%	
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	27,000	2,000	9.0%*	63.5%	36.8%*	21.9%*	54.7%	71.0%	
Tulare	125,000	15,000	12.4%	51.7%	31.7%*	5.7%*	33.4%*	67.9%	
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	33,000	4,000	13.6%*	48.8%*	-	28.3%*	22.7%*	25.7%*	
Ventura	206,000	16,000	7.9%*	28.1%*	21.5%*	25.4%*	62.0%	70.9%	
Yolo	44,000	4,000	8.4%	20.0%*	14.5%*	_	13.6%*	36.6%*	

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (--) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Active asthma is defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Age range and population numbers reflect the fact that an asthma diagnosis is not given to children younger than 1. Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 10.2. Children Ages 1 to 17 with Active Asthma, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE/ TWO OR MORE RACES
California	979,000	42.5%	5.3%	9.4%	10.1%	29.3%	3.4%
Northern/Sierra Counties	32,000	12.5%	19.0%	_	2.6%*	63.4%	1.8%*
Bay Area Counties	182,000	30.6%	1.9%*	27.0%	8.9%*	28.5%	3.2%*
Sacramento Area Counties	50,000	19.5%*	9.9%*	5.7%*	12.7%*	49.3%	3.0%*
San Joaquin Valley Counties	150,000	46.4%	8.1%*	6.5%*	4.9%*	30.5%	3.6%*
Central Coast Counties	47,000	49.1%	13.6%*	_	-	35.2%	2.1%*
Los Angeles County	289,000	59.0%	2.6%*	4.3%	13.8%	16.1%	4.1%*
Other Southern California Counties	229,000	36.6%	5.2%*	7.4%*	12.2%	35.3%	3.3%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (--) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Active asthma and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Age range and population numbers reflect the fact that an asthma diagnosis is not given to children younger than 1. Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding.

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

the racial-ethnic distribution was 42.5 percent Latino, 5.3 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, 9.4 percent Asian, 10.1 percent African American, 29.3 percent White, and 3.4 percent other single/two or more races (see Table 10.2). African Americans had a much higher proportion of child active asthma in comparison to their total child population (10.1 percent versus 5.9 percent; see also Table 9.2). Programs targeting children with active asthma need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but children reporting active asthma were disproportionately Latino in the Bay Area counties and Los Angeles County, disproportionately Asian American in the Bay Area counties and San Joaquin Valley, disproportionately American Indian/Alaska Native in the Northern/Sierra counties, Sacramento Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, and Other Southern California counties, and disproportionately African American in all California regions except for the San Joaquin Valley and Central Coast counties.

## **Health Status**

Poor health status among children has been linked to chronic conditions and disability.<sup>26,27</sup> Parent or self-reported health status is often used as a global measure for overall child health and well-being, and an important outcome in pediatric research.<sup>28</sup> By identifying children with fair-to-poor health status in the past year a better understanding of demographic characteristics, frequent health care

#### Table 11.1. Children with Fair-to-Poor Health Status, 2007

						IN PAST 12 MONTHS		
	TOTAL CHILD POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW-INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS
California	9,912,000	678,000	6.8%	66.5%	41.4%	21.4%	28.3%	43.4%
Alameda	363,000	25,000	6.8%*	59.4%	53.1%	6.4*	4.4*	52.8*
Butte	47,000	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contra Costa	255,000	13,000	5.0%*	66.4%	14.0*	51.3%*	-	13.6%*
Del Norte, Siskiyou, Lassen, Trinity, Modoc, Plumas, Sierra	32,000	-	-	_	-	_	-	_
El Dorado	40,000	1,000	2.3%*	_	-	-	-	-
Fresno	270,000	24,000	9.1%*	84.1%	66.2%	27.7%*	31.5%*	36.6%*
Humboldt	28,000	2,000	6.6%*	_	_	_	47.3%*	47.7%*
Imperial	47,000	6,000	12.3%	82.7%	65.8%	-	43.4%*	53.9%
Kern	243,000	15,000	6.0%*	73.1%	73.1%	11.5%*	53.4%	47.8%*
Kings	43,000	4,000	10.0%	72.9%	69.2%	-	26.3%*	34.2%*
Lake	13,000	1,000	9.1%*	52.8%*	59.7%*	_	-	74.4%
Los Angeles	2,815,000	235,000	8.4%	67.4%	41.8%	22.8%	25.8%	42.2%
SPA 1-Antelope Valley	95,000	4,000	4.2%*	60.6%*	32.2%*	41.3%*	32.2%*	82.1%
SPA 2–San Fernando	582,000	33,000	5.6%	49.7%	34.6%*	13.9%*	33.8%*	58.1%
SPA 3–San Gabriel Valley	459,000	44,000	9.6%	58.3%	36.7%	22.4%*	21.6%*	29.3%
SPA 4-Metro	329,000	25,000	7.6%	86.8%	30.5%*	33.2%*	26.9%*	44.5%*
SPA 5-West Area	129,000	5,000	4.2%*	38.9%*	38.9%*	-	11.6%*	61.1%*
SPA 6-South	351,000	49,000	14.1%	84.8%	57.9%	23.2%*	20.6%*	41.8%*
SPA 7-East Area	432,000	41,000	9.4%	52.1%	31.4%*	21.8%*	33.1%*	49.6%
SPA 8–South Bay	440,000	34,000	7.7%	80.0%	54.3%	26.1%*	22.9%*	25.9%*
Madera	42,000	2,000	4.4%*	88.1%	37.1%*	48.7%*	-	-
Marin	54,000	1,000	1.8%*	100.0%*	-	_	_	100.0%
Mendocino	20,000	2,000	9.9%*	51.9%*	29.2%*	_	_	_
Merced	78,000	6,000	7.8%*	98.2%	66.3%	26.9%*	22.1%*	64.0%

AMONG CHILDREN WITH FAIR-TO-POOR HEALTH

utilization, and barriers to care facing children in California can be gained.

Statewide characteristics. In 2007, about 7 percent of California children younger than 18 were reported to have fair-to-poor health status in the past year (see Table 11.1). Sixty-seven percent of children who reported fair-to-poor health status were from low-income families, compared to 40.6 percent for all children statewide. Access to health care among children with fair-to-poor health status was lower than among all children in California. Among children reporting fair-topoor health status, 41.4 percent reported having Medi-Cal coverage, which was higher than the 25.8 percent enrollment among all children in California. However, 21.4 percent of children with fair-to-poor health status reported being uninsured at some point in the past year, compared to 9.4 percent of all California children. There was also a substantially higher frequency of health care usage among children with fair-to-poor health status compared to all children in California. Four out of ten children reporting fair-to-poor health status saw a doctor at least three times in the past year, but only 28.3 percent went to the ER.

**County prevalence.** The prevalence of fairto-poor health status among children ranged from 1.8 percent in Marin County to 15.1 percent in Monterey County. In addition to Marin County, the California areas with the lowest prevalence of fair-to-poor health status included the San Diego South region, (2.1 percent),

				AMONG CHILDREN WITH FAIR-TO-FOUR HEALT					
							IN PAST 1	2 MONTHS	
	TOTAL CHILD POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW-INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS <sup>†</sup>	
Monterey	120,000	18,000	15.1%*	88.8%	39.8%*	18.0%*	25.9%*	63.2%	
Napa	33,000	3,000	9.1%*	100.0%*	46.1%*	35.3%*	45.1%*	-	
Nevada	19,000	1,000	4.5%*	-	-	-	75.9%*	100.0%	
Orange	792,000	56,000	7.1%	71.0%	45.7%	12.6%*	55.3%	36.1%*	
Placer	82,000	2,000	2.8%*	33.0%*	-	33.0%*	33.0%*	38.3%*	
Riverside	582,000	38,000	6.5%	68.8%	36.8%*	33.1%*	32.0%*	47.8%	
Sacramento	377,000	11,000	2.9%*	57.8%*	21.7%*	9.4%*	52.2%*	16.4%*	
San Benito	17,000	2,000	9.6%*	67.0%	-	-	-	56.2%*	
San Bernardino	595,000	29,000	4.9%	49.6%	24.1%*	37.5%*	39.6%	44.3%	
San Diego	801,000	37,000	4.6%	57.5%	21.9%*	14.5%*	19.5%*	42.5%	
1–North Coastal	130,000	8,000	6.1%*	75.9%	-	30.3%*	13.7%*	17.5%*	
2–North Central	133,000	5,000	3.4%*	55.6%*	48.3%*	-	53.0%*	62.7%*	
3-Central	130,000	7,000	5.1%*	76.7%	44.8%*	34.2%*	-	33.8%*	
4–South	120,000	3,000	2.1%*	55.9%*	37.5%*	_	-	30.2%*	
5–East	124,000	9,000	7.0%*	37.1%*	_	_	18.9%*	61.0%*	
6–North Inland	163,000	7,000	4.2%*	44.9%*	24.7%*	10.4%*	22.3%*	47.8%*	
San Francisco	115,000	5,000	4.1%*	37.7%*	-	_	-	40.6%*	
San Joaquin	220,000	19,000	8.7%*	87.1%	59.5%*	23.3%*	43.1%*	47.7%*	
San Luis Obispo	53,000	1,000	2.3%*	66.8%*	_	_	100.0%	_	
San Mateo	164,000	7,000	4.0%*	11.7%*	11.7%*	_	11.7%*	34.6%*	
Santa Barbara	105,000	9,000	8.7%*	67.4%*	55.1%*	16.6%*	5.9%*	51.8%*	
Santa Clara	454,000	39,000	8.5%	63.0%	36.0%*	27.0%*	24.3%*	60.9%	
Santa Cruz	58,000	2,000	3.4%*	65.6%*	87.9%*	_	41.7%*	41.7%*	
Shasta	42,000	_	-	_	-	_	-	_	
Solano	108,000	5,000	4.4%*	40.7%*	40.7%*	40.2%*	10.4%*	-	
Sonoma	115,000	12,000	10.8%*	39.8%*	9.2%*	55.5%*	8.4%*	23.0%*	

#### AMONG CHU DREN WITH FAIR TO BOOR HEALTH

El Dorado (2.3 percent), San Luis Obispo County (2.3 percent), and Placer County (2.8 percent). The areas with the highest prevalence of fairto-poor health status included Imperial County (12.3 percent), the Tehama/Glenn/Colusa County cluster (13.5 percent), Los Angeles SPA 6-South (14.1 percent) and Monterey County (15.1 percent).

**County characteristics.** The characteristics of county residents with a chronic condition are determined in part by the characteristics of all county residents, so it is not possible to compare the characteristics of those with a chronic condition between counties. It is possible to compare the characteristics of children with fair-to-poor health status to the characteristics of all children in the same county, however. For example, in San Bernardino County, 39.6 percent of children with fair-to-poor reported health used the ER in the past year (Table 11.1), which is about twice the 22.4 percent of all children in San Bernardino County who reported using the ER in the past year (Table 9.1). Note that due to the relatively low number of children with fairto-poor reported health in many counties, the estimates of many of their characteristics are not statistically stable (indicated by an asterisk) and should be considered "ballpark" estimates.

Racial and ethnic characteristics. Among California children reporting fair-to-poor health status, the racial-ethnic distribution was 60.5 percent Latino, 7.0 percent American Indian/

				AMONG CHILDREN WITH FAIR-TO-POOR HEALT					
					IN PAST 1	2 MONTHS			
	TOTAL CHILD POPULATION	NUMBER	PERCENT	LOW-INCOME	WITH MEDI-CAL	UNINSURED	ER VISIT	3 OR MORE MD VISITS <sup>†</sup>	
Stanislaus	164,000	14,000	8.7%*	55.0%*	64.1%	4.4%*	26.3%*	47.3%*	
Sutter, Yuba	49,000	2,000	4.8%*	51.6%*	27.8%*	-	46.3%*	76.5%	
Tehama, Glenn, Colusa	29,000	4,000	13.5%*	81.3%	58.8%*	_	27.0%*	87.3%	
Tulare	133,000	14,000	10.8%	74.3%	60.2%	5.6%*	9.2%*	36.3%*	
Tuolumne, Calaveras, Amador, Inyo, Mariposa, Mono, Alpine	34,000	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Ventura	214,000	8,000	3.6%*	72.9%	34.5%*	14.3%*	25.9%*	42.4%*	
Yolo	46,000	3,000	5.8%*	85.4%*	31.2%*	42.9%*	_	69.7%*	

AMONG CHU DREN WITH FAIR TO BOOR HEALTH

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

tFor children ages 2 to 17, calculations reflect an average of three or more doctor visits; for children ages 0 to 1, calculations reflect an average of four or more doctor visits.

Dash (-) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Fair-to-poor health status is defined in the Appendix under "Variables."

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

#### Table 11.2. Children with Fair-to-Poor Health Status, by Race/Ethnicity and Region, 2007

	TOTAL	LATINO	AMERICAN INDIAN/ ALASKA NATIVE	ASIAN	AFRICAN AMERICAN	WHITE	OTHER SINGLE, TWO OR MORE RACES
California	678,000	60.5%	7.0%*	9.5%	5.0%	15.8%	2.2%*
Northern/Sierra Counties	13,000	36.4%	6.9%	_	_	54.2%	_
Bay Area Counties	109,000	39.9%	8.5%*	30.8%	6.1%*	12.9%*	1.9%
Sacramento Area Counties	17,000	39.1%*	20.4%*	5.1%*	_	28.8%*	5.6%*
San Joaquin Valley Counties	99,000	59.1%	9.9%*	3.7%*	7.5%*	19.7%	_
Central Coast Counties	40,000	84.3%	3.6%*	5.2%*	_	4.1%*	2.8%*
Los Angeles County	235,000	68.1%	4.9%*	8.1%*	5.4%*	11.4%	2.1%*
Other Southern California Counties	166,000	62.5%	6.7%*	3.2%*	4.1%*	20.2%	3.4%*

\*Indicates an unstable estimate.

Dash (--) indicates the sample size is too small to provide an estimate.

Notes: Fair-to-poor health status and race/ethnicity are defined in the Appendix under "Variables." Totals may not add up to 100 percent due to rounding

Source: 2007 California Health Interview Survey.

Alaska Native, 9.5 percent Asian, 5.0 percent African American, 15.8 percent White, and 2.2 percent other single/two or more races (Table 11.2). Compared to their total child population in California, Latinos had a higher proportion of children reporting fair-to-poor health status (60.5 percent versus 44.5 percent, see also Table 9.2). Similarly, American Indians/ Alaska Natives were over-represented in the child population reporting fair-to-poor health status (7.0 percent versus 5.2 percent). Programs targeting children with fair-to-poor health status need to include outreach to all racial and ethnic minorities in all regions of the state, but children reporting fair-to-poor health status were disproportionately Latino in all California regions, disproportionately Asian American in the Bay Area counties and Central Coast counties, disproportionately African American in the San Joaquin Valley, and disproportionately American Indian/Alaska Native in the Bay Area counties, Sacramento Area counties, the San Joaquin Valley, and other Southern California counties.

# **IV. Conclusion**

THE TRANSITION FROM ACUTE TO CHRONIC HEALTH CONDITIONS signals a change for how health care should be delivered in the United States. Seven out of ten American adults die each year due to a chronic disease, and nearly one in two live with at least one chronic health condition such as heart disease, cancer, stroke, or diabetes.<sup>29</sup> Chronic health conditions require early diagnosis, continual disease management, and high-quality treatment. Although prevention is key to addressing the incidence of new cases, health care services that are available, accessible, and affordable are essential for those living with a chronic health condition.

Findings from this report show that one-third of California adults (36 percent) reported having at least one chronic health condition (including active asthma, congestive heart failure, diabetes, hypertension, or psychological distress) and 16 percent of California children reported having at least one chronic health condition (including active asthma or fair-to-poor health status). Over half of California adults reporting a chronic condition (58 percent) reported frequent health care utilization defined as visiting the doctor at least four times or having an ER visit in the past year. For children reporting a chronic condition, 61 percent reported frequent health care utilization, visiting the doctor at least three times or having an ER visit in the past year. However, one-fourth of California adults and almost one-fourth of California children reporting at least one chronic condition had barriers to health care, such as no health insurance, no usual source of care, and difficulty communicating with doctors—all of which may exacerbate chronic conditions and lead to preventable complications and avoidable hospitalizations.

Among counties, Lake County reported the highest burden of chronic health conditions, ranking among the worst health groups for all seven chronic health conditions. The counties that ranked among the worst health groups for six of the seven health conditions were: Fresno County, Los Angeles SPA 6-South, Napa County, the Sutter/Yuba County cluster, and the Tehama/ Glenn/Colusa County cluster. These results suggest that these counties merit a closer examination to see why they have such high rates of chronic conditions, combined with high rates of barriers and use. In contrast, Marin and San Luis Obispo counties reported the lowest burden of chronic health conditions, ranking among the best health groups for all seven chronic health conditions. Those counties that ranked among the best health groups for six of the seven chronic health conditions were: Los Angeles SPA 5-West, San Diego North Central and North Inland regions, San Francisco County, Santa Clara County, and Sonoma County.

Living with a chronic health condition reduces a person's overall quality of life, and increases morbidity and mortality. Much of the morbidity and mortality related to chronic health conditions can be attributed to modifiable behaviors, but these behaviors must also go hand-in-hand with access to quality health care.<sup>30</sup> Amid the rising number of people living with a chronic health condition and increasingly high expenditures to treat them, this report's findings highlight the need to develop community-based prevention programs, improve the quality and accessibility of health care services, and reduce preventable hospitalizations. By understanding the burden of these chronic health conditions, public health workers, health care providers, and policymakers can target their efforts to prevent the onset of chronic diseases and improve chronic disease management and treatment in California.

## Appendix

### **Data Sources**

Chronic Conditions of Californians used data from CHIS. CHIS is the largest on-going state-level health survey in the country. CHIS is a telephone survey of California's non-institutionalized population that has been conducted every two years since 2001. CHIS randomly selects households drawn from every county in California for its random-digit dial (RDD) telephone survey. This report used 2007 CHIS data where there were more than 51,000 completed interviews with adults and over 13,000 with adolescents and children. CHIS data were weighted to adjust for geographic oversampling and to reflect California statewide population characteristics. The health and demographic variables are obtained from CHIS.

This project received institutional review board approval from the UCLA Human Subjects Protection Committee.

### **Geographical Definitions**

Data are reported either at the county-level or regional level. For all data except for race/ethnicity, data are reported at the county level. However, for counties with small populations, neighboring counties are combined to ensure stable estimates. Combined counties include: Del Norte/Siskiyou/Lassen/Trinity/Modoc/Plumas/ Sierra, the Sutter/Yuba cluster, the Tehama/Glenn/ Colusa cluster, and the Tuolumne/Calaveras/Amador/ Inyo/Mariposa cluster. Since data were available for subcounty areas, Los Angeles and San Diego counties were divided into smaller regions. The eight designated SPAs were used for Los Angeles County: SPA 1-Antelope Valley, SPA 2-San Fernando Valley, SPA 3-San Gabriel Valley, SPA 4-Metro, SPA 5-West, SPA 6-South, SPA 7-East, and SPA 8-South Bay. The six health regions were used for San Diego County: Region 1-North Coastal, Region 2-North Central, Region 3-Central, San Diego Region 4-South, San Diego Region 5-East, and San Diego Region 6-North Inland.

For the distribution of chronic conditions by race/ ethnicity, small sample sizes limited the comparison to a regional level. The analysis divided the regions into Northern/Sierra counties, Bay Area counties, Sacramento Area counties, San Joaquin Valley, Central Coast counties, Los Angeles county, and other Southern California counties. The Northern/Sierra region includes Alpine, Amador, Butte, Calaveras, Colusa, Del Norte, Glenn, Humboldt, Invo, Lake, Lassen, Mariposa, Mendocino, Modoc, Mono, Nevada, Plumas, Shasta, Sierra, Siskiyou, Sutter, Tehama, Trinity, Tuolumne, and Yuba counties. The Bay Area region includes Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San Francisco, San Mateo, Santa Clara, Solano, and Sonoma counties. The Sacramento region includes El Dorado, Placer, Sacramento, and Yolo counties. The San Joaquin Valley region includes Fresno, Kern, Kings, Madera, Merced, San Joaquin, Stanislaus, and Tulare counties. The Central Coast region includes Monterey, San Benito, San Luis Obispo, Santa Barbara, Santa Cruz, and Ventura counties. The Los Angeles region is Los Angeles County. The Southern California region includes Imperial, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino, and San Diego counties.

#### Variables

#### **Chronic Health Condition Variables**

**Chronic conditions index.** For adults ages 18 or older, the chronic conditions index is computed from adults who reported one or more of the following conditions: active asthma, congestive heart failure, diabetes, hypertension, or psychological distress. For children ages 17 or younger, the chronic conditions index is computed from the responses of children who reported one or more of the following conditions: active asthma and fair-to-poor health status.

Active asthma. Defined as those who reported ever having been diagnosed with asthma by a doctor and who reported current symptoms in the past 12 months. Current symptoms include any one of the following: experienced an asthma attack or episode, experienced weekly to daily symptoms, went to the ER or had an urgent care visit because of an asthma episode, is taking daily asthma medication, or missed work or school due to asthma. This measure expands on the previous 2003 CHIS measure of current asthma used in the first edition of *Chronic Conditions*.

**Congestive heart failure.** Defined as those who reported ever having been diagnosed with congestive heart failure by a doctor. The first edition of Chronic Conditions of Californians used a broader categorization of adults diagnosed with heart disease found in the 2003 CHIS.

**Diabetes.** Defined as those who reported ever having been diagnosed with diabetes by a doctor. It does not

include those who have been diagnosed with borderline or pre-diabetes.

**Fair-to-poor health status.** Parent-reported or self-reported health status is measured through the following categories: excellent, very good, good, fair or poor. Health status was dichotomized into excellent/ very good/good, and fair/poor. In CHIS, parents reported the health status for children ages 0 to 11. Parent reports have been found to be a valid proxy for child self-reports.<sup>31</sup> Teenagers, ages 12 to 17, reported their own health status.

**Hypertension.** Defined as those who reported ever having been diagnosed with high blood pressure or hypertension by a doctor.

**Psychological distress.** Defined as those who reported a likelihood of having a diagnosable mental illness in the past 30 days. Psychological distress is measured using the Kessler 6-item scale which captures "nonspecific psychological distress rather than specific mental illnesses and is intended to identify persons with mental health problems severe enough to cause moderate to serious impairment in social, occupational, or school functioning and to require treatment."<sup>32</sup> Items include feeling nervous, hopeless, restless/fidgety, that nothing would cheer you up, that everything was an effort, and worthlessness. Using a scale of 1 (none of the time) to 5 (all of the time) for each item, a score of 13 or higher indicates psychological distress in the past month.

#### **Demographic Variables**

**Low-income.** Defined as having a family household income below 200 percent of the Federal Poverty Level. Respondents were asked about their household income in the year previous to the interview. In 2006, the federal poverty guideline for a family of three living in California was set at an income level of \$16,600.<sup>33</sup>

Race and ethnicity. Race and ethnicity were based on the categorizations by a UCLA Center for Health Policy Research construct variable which is informed by the categories used by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget and California Department of Finance: American Indian/Alaska Native, Asian, Black or African American, Hispanic/Latino, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islanders, and White. The American Indian/ Alaska Native category was top-coded to include all respondents who had any mention of American Indian/ Alaska Native race. Due to small sample sizes, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islanders, unspecified other race categories, and multi-racial individuals were combined into one aggregate category.

## Health Care Access and Utilization Variables Medi-Cal. Defined as those who reported Medi-Cal coverage during the past year.

**Uninsured.** Defined as those who reported no health insurance in the past year or having insurance only part of the past year.

Health care utilization index or frequent health care use: Measured by any ER visit and by the number of doctor visits in the past year. To capture more frequent health care utilization, the average annual number of doctor visits was used as the benchmark. For adults, the analysis used four or more doctor visits in the past year. For children ages 2 to 17, three or more doctor visits was used;. for children ages 0 to 1, four or more doctor visits.

**Barriers to health care index:** Defined as adults or children who reported no health insurance at any time in past year, no usual source of care, or had difficulty communicating with their doctor.

### **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics. Univariate analysis was conducted to provide the prevalence or the total number of people with a chronic condition. Bivariate analysis examined each chronic condition and indices with demographic variables, health care utilization variables, and barriers to health care variables. These cross-tabulations provided comparisons across subgroups or key health care factors in relation to each chronic condition. The estimates presented were based on a sample of California respondents. Each estimate has a level of error associated with it and a range in which the true estimate falls. The range, or 95 percent confidence interval, for the estimate is a statistic that approximates the point estimates that would be obtained 95 out of 100 times if the same survey were repeated with a new sample in the same population. An unstable estimate exceeds the generally acceptable amount of variation (30 percent) as measured by the coefficient of variation.

## Endnotes

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Chronic Diseases—The Power to Prevent, The Call to Control: At a Glance 2009.* National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Accessed on July 29, 2009 (www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/publications/AAG/chronic.htm).
- 2. Ibid.
- 3. Ibid.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *The Burden of Chronic Diseases and Their Risk Factors: National and State Perspectives 2004.* 2004. Accessed on July 29, 2009 (www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/ burdenbook2004).
- Saha, S., R. Solotaroff, A. Oster, A.B. Bindman. August 2007. "Are preventable hospitalizations sensitive to changes in access to primary care? The case of the Oregon Health Plan." *Medical Care* 45 (8); 712–9.
- Himelhoch, S., W.E. Weller, A.W. Wu, G.F. Anderson, and L.A. Cooper. June 2004. "Chronic Medical Illness, Depression, and Use of Acute Medical Services Among Medicare Beneficiaries." *Medical Care* 42 (6); 512–21. Lando, J., S.M. Williams, B. Williams, S. Sturgis. April 2006. "A Logic Model for the Integration of Mental Health Into Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion." *Preventing Chronic Disease* [serial online] 3 (2) (www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2006/ apr/05\_0215.htm).

- 7. CHIS respondents include adults, adolescents, and children living within households in California, but exclude individuals living in institutionalized group quarters (e.g. residents of correctional institutions such as jails, or nursing homes) and non-institutionalized group quarters (e.g. residents of college dormitories, or military quarters on base, www.chis.ucla.edu).
- AHRQ Quality Indicators. Prevention Quality Indicators Download. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Rockville, MD: March 2007 (www.qualityindicators.ahrq.gov/pqi\_download.htm).
- Akinbami, L. "Asthma Prevalence, Health Care Use, and Mortality: United States, 2003–05." National Center for Health Statistics. 2006. Accessed July 25, 2009 (www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/asthma03-05/ asthma03-05.htm).
- 10. CHIS 2007 data (www.chis.ucla.edu/main/default.asp).
- Kung, H.C., D.L. Hoyert, J. Xu, and S.L. Murphy. 2008. "Deaths: Final data for 2005." *National Vital Statistics Reports* 56 (10).
- 12. See note 10.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Heart Failure Fact Sheet.* 2006. Accessed on July 30, 2009 (www.cdc.gov/DHDSP/library/fs\_heart\_failure.htm).
- Mokdad, A.H., E.S. Ford, B.A. Bowman, et al. 2003. "Prevalence of Obesity, Diabetes, and Other Obesity-Related Health Risk Factors, 2001." *JAMA* 289 (1); 76–9.

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *National Diabetes Fact Sheet: General Information and National Estimates on Diabetes in the United States, 2007.* 2008. Accessed July 30, 2009 (www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/ pdf/ndfs\_2007.pdf).
- 16. National Diabetes Information Clearinghouse, a service of the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. *National Diabetes Statistics, 2007.* Accessed August 19, 2009, (diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/dm/pubs/statistics).
- Ostchega, Y., S.S. Yoon, J. Hughes, and T. Louis. *Hypertension Awareness, Treatment, and Control— Continued Disparities in Adults: United States,* 2005–2006. NCHS Data Brief. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics. 2008. Accessed on July 29, 2009, (www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ databriefs/db03.pdf).
- 18. Ibid.
- Kessler, R.C., W.T. Chiu, O. Demler, and E.E. Walters. "Prevalence, Severity, and Comorbidity of Twelve-Month DSM-IV Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). "June 2005. Archives of General Psychiatry 62 (6); 617–27.
- Kessler, R.C., G. Andrews, L.J. Colpe, E. Hiripi, D.K. Mroczek, S.L.T. Normand, E.E. Walters, and A.M. Zaslavsky. 2002. "Short Screening Scales to Monitor Population Prevalences and Trends in Non-Specific Psychological Distress." *Psychological Medicine* 32; 959–76.

- The World Health Organization. The World Health Report 2004—Changing History, Annex Table 3: Burden of Disease in DALYs by Cause, Sex, and Mortality Stratum in WHO Regions, Estimates for 2002. Geneva: WHO, 2004.
- Pratt, L.A., A.N. Dey, and A.J. Cohen. "Characteristics of Adults with Serious Psychological Distress as Measured by the K6 Scale: United States, 2001–04." *Advance Data from Vital and Health Statistics 382. National Center for Health Statistics.* Hyattville, MD: 2007.
- 23. See note 1.
- 24. See note 10.
- DeFrances, C.J., K.A. Cullen, L.J. Kozak. National Hospital Discharge Survey: 2005 annual summary with detailed diagnosis and procedure data. National Center for Health Statistics. *Vital Health Stat* 13(165). 2007. Table 11. Accessed January 24, 2010 (www.cdc. gov/nchs/data/series/sr\_13/sr13\_165.pdf#table11).
- Skinner, A.C., M.L. Mayer, K. Flower, and M. Weinberger. 2008. "Health Status and Health Care Expenditures in a Nationally Representative Sample: How Do Overweight and Healthy-Weight Children Compare?" *Pediatrics* 121 (2); 269–77.
- 27. Tremblay, S., S. Dahinten, and D. Kohen. 2003.
  "Factors Related to Adolescents' Self-Perceived Health." *Health Report* 14S; 7–16.
- 28. Eiser C. 1977. Children's Quality of Life Measures. Arch Dis Child 77 (4); 350–354.
- 29. See note 1.

- Coups, E.J., A. Gaba, and C.T. Orleans. 2004.
   "Physician Screening for Multiple Behavioral Health Risk Factors." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* (27); 34–41.
- Varni, J.W., C.A. Limbers, T.M. Burwinkle. 2007.
   "Parent Proxy-Report of their Children's Health-Related Quality of Life: An Analysis of 13,878 Parents' Reliability and Validity Across Age Subgroups Using the PedsQL 4.0 Generic Core Scales." *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 5 (2).
- 32. See note 20.
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. "The 2006 HHS Poverty Guidelines," accessed on August 4, 2009 (aspe.hhs.gov/poverty/06poverty.shtml).



1438 Webster Street, Suite 400 Oakland, CA 94612 tel: 510.238.1040 fax: 510.238.1388 www.chcf.org